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1881.
NEW ZEALAND.

REPORT OF PUBLIC ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE ON
PENSIONS.

(TOGETHER WITH MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS AND EVIDENCE)

Brought up \Gth August, 1881, and ordered to be printed.

ORDERS OP REFERENCE.
Extracts from the Journals of the Hoiise of Representatives.

IIIUESDAY,THE 7tH DAY OP JUIY, 1831.
Ordered, "That it is not desirable that the House should come to any decision as to the course to be taken with

reference to Dr. Pollen's pension until the circumstances under which pensions have been granted to the Hon. Sir William
PiUherbert, the Hon.Mr. Gisborne, and Mr. Domett havebeen considered by the Public Accounts Committee and repotted
to this House."—(Mr. Saunders.)

But, until the report of the Public Accounts Committee on the additional pensions referred to has been dealt with by
the House, no further payment should be made on account of any or either of such pensions, and that the Committee do
report to the House upon the pensions of Mr. Domett, Sir William Pitzherbert, and Mr. Gisborne,within three weeks.—
(Mr. J. B. Fisher.)

Thtjksday, the 28th Day oe July, 1881.
Ordered,"That the Public Accounts Committee have leave to postpone for fourteen days the bringing up of their

report in the matter of certain pensions,referred to them on the 7th. day of July instant."

Thubsday, the 11th Day op August, 1881.
Ordered, " That the Public Accounts Committee have leave to postpone the bringing up of their report upon the

subject of pensions for oneweek."

REPORT

The Public Accounts Committee, which has been directed by the House to consider and report
upon the pensions granted to Sir William Fitzherbert, the Hon. Mr. Gisborne, and Mr Domett,,
has the honour to report,—

That, on the 2nd December, 1869, Mr. Fitzherbert applied to the Colonial Secretary for a
superannuation allowance, having on the 2nd Novemberprevious tendered his resignation of the
office of Commissioner of Crown Lands. He based his claim on sections 31,82, and 33 of " The
Civil Service Act, 1866." To entitle him to a pension under that Act it was necessary, under
sections 32 and 33 : (1.) That he should have attained the full age of sixty years at the date of
his resignation; (2.) That he should have been fifteen years in the Civil Service of NewZealand.
If those conditions were fulfilled, the superannuation allowance would be " an annual allowance
of half the average annual salary received by him during the two years preceding his superan-
nuation/

With regard to the first of these conditions, Mr. Fitzherbert seems to have been in his
sixtieth year, but not " of the full age of sixty years," when he tenderedhis resignation, which
was accepted to take effect nearly eight months afterwards.
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"With regard to the second condition, the public records show thatMr. Fitzherbert joinedthe
Provincial Service of Wellington as Secretary (which was held by the Attorney-General in office
when the pension was granted to be equivalent to the Civil Service of the colony, in computing
pensions) on 3rd November, 1853. He held thepolitical office of Colonial Treasurer from 24th
November, 1864,to 16th October, 1865, in Mr Weld's Ministry; and again held political office
asColonial Treasurer and Commissioner of Stamp Duties, and member of theExecutive,from 24th
August, 1866, to 28th June, 1869, in Mr Stafford's Ministry

The opinions of both Mr Attorney-General Stout and Mr. Attorney-General Whitaker are
clearly that the acceptance of political office is incompatible with the position of a Civil servant,
and the latter authority expressly lays down that the " holder of an office accepting another office
incompatible with it ipso facto vacates thefirst/

It is evident, therefore, that the entire service of Mr Fitzherbert, deducting the time during
which he held political office, does not exceed thirteen years. It may be further observed that,
as Mr Fitzherbert held the political office of Colonial Treasurer on the Bth October, 1866,
(the date of the Act under which he claims,) and was, therefore, not a Civil servant at that
time, he was not entitled, under the provisions of section 31 of that Act, to claim the time
during which he held office in the "Provincial Civil Service of Wellington " in the computation
of his retiring allowance. If that time is not counted, his length of service would only be six
years three months and eight days.

With regard to the amount of pension, Mr Fitzherbert was granted a retiring allowance
on the basis of half the annual salary he drew as a Civil servant; but the law was not complied
with in this particular, inasmuch as during the two years preceding his superannuation he was,
for a large portion of the time, a Minister of the Crown, and, consequently, not in receipt of
salary as a Civil servant; and, further, he was, during the last seven months of his computed
time, absent on leave without salary

The evidence shows that the Ministry who recommended the granting of the allowance
were aware that the tenure of political office was an important feature of the case; and, in
granting the allowance, they considered that the case should be specially treated, partly because
their own judgment was in favour of that course, and partly because their immediate prede-
cessors had granted Mr Fitzherbert leave, as a Civil servant, whilst he was on a mission in his
capacity of Minister of the Crown.

The Committee thinks it right to point out that the Governor's warrant granting the
allowance is inaccurate in its recitals, inasmuch as it states, as a ground for granting the
pension, that Mr Fitzherbert had " been actually employed in the public service of New Zealand
for the period of sixteen years," which could not be the case if his political service were not in-
cluded ; and further states that he had, " during the last two years of such service," been em-
ployed at an average salary of £650 per annum.

Mr Domett's pension of £559 10s. 6d. per annum, claimed under "The Civil Service Super-
annuation Act, 1858," and ". The Civil Service Amendment Act, 1861/> was granted on the 14th
August, 1871 He entered the colonial service on the 14th February, 1848, and claimed pension
from that date, or for twenty-three years and six months ; but the claim for the time he held the
political offices of Premier and Colonial Secretary, in 1862-1863, was disallowed; and his time
wascomputed at twenty-two years and two months' service. The time that he was absent from
his office in Nelson to attend the meetings of the House of Representatives, in Auckland and
Wellington, during some months of each year for six years, does not appear to have been
deducted.

He claims to have held the office of Secretary of Crown Lands " during almost all the
period " that he was Premier, and therefore it would appear that the higher office was not then
treated as incompatible with the lower; but he was dulyre-appointed Secretaryfor Crown Lands
on the 24th September, 1863, only 55 days after he had ceased to hold the offices of Premier and
Colonial Secretary; and, on every other point, his pension appears to have been granted in.
accordance with the provisions of the two Acts of 1858 and 1861, under which it was claimed.

Mr. Gisborne claimed his pension on the 30th March, 1875, under " The Civil Service Amend-
ment Act, 1861."

The Civil Service Act of 1866, clause 29, in repealing the Act under which Mr Gisborne
claimed a pension at the age of 50 years, reserves therights " of persons appointed to offices be-
fore the passing of that Act." But Mr. Gisborne, at the time of claiming his pension, was not
holding any office that he held in 1866, when that Act was passed; and, according to the legal
opinions quoted below, was therefore not entitled to claim under it, even if he had not been
deemedto have ipso facto vacated all subordinate office, by the acceptance of the political office
of Colonial Secretary on the sth July, 1869. Without raising the latter point, the Solicitor-
General, Mr Reid, writes on the 3rd November, 1876 : " I have given this matter very careful
consideration, and have come to the conclusion that retiring allowances can only be claimed,
under the Acts of 1858 and 1861, in respect of offices held prior to the passing of the Act of
1866. So long as a person holds the office he held at the time of the passing of the Act of 1866
he would be entitled to the privileges by that Act preserved to him; but where, subsequently to
that Act, such person accepts a new office, I think he cannot, in respect of the new office, claim
the privileges of the Acts of 1858 and 1861 " This legal opinion is confirmed by the Attorney-
General (Mr. Whitaker) who, on the 6th November, 1876, writes : "I am of opinion that, in
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its legalaspect, as a matter of interpretation of Statutes, the above opinion of the Solicitor-
General is correct in stating the law as it stands at present. The only remedy, it appears to me,
is a declaratory Act of the Assembly I think that should be prepared as soon as the Assembly
meets again." No such declaratory Act was passed in 1877, the year following the granting of
the pension; but, in 1878, the Civil Service Acts Amendment Act was passed, which wa<;
apparently intended to cover this and similar cases.

The Committee has also to place before the House an opinion of the Solicitor-General ou
Dr Pollen's case, which was not furnished to the Committee until after its report of that cas« of
the Ist July last. Thereason the Committee had not this opinion before it was, that it was not
filed with the papers relating to the case, and its existence was unknown to the Government.

In submitting to the House the accompanying papers, and the foregoing summary of the
facts in therespective cases referred to it, the Committee expresses its opinion that, although
there has been irregularity in the granting of the pensions to Sir William Fitzherbert, the Hon.
William Gisborne, and the Hon. Dr Pollen, the Committee does not consider that the circum-
stances of the several cases are such as would render it advisable to repudiate liabilities based on
the Governor's warrants, and, therefore, recommends that all doubts as to the legality of those
pensions should be removed by a special Act.

E. C. J Stevens,
loth August, 1881 Chairman, Public Accounts Committee.

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS.
Tuesday, 12th July, 1881.

The order of reference of the 7th July was read.
On the motion of Mr. Montgomery, Resolved, That the Chairman should see Sir William Eitzher-

bert, to ascertain if he wishes to attend the Committee to make any statement as to his pension; and,
if so, to arrangea time with him accordingly

A letterfrom the Hon. Mr. Gisborne, of the 11th July, was read, offering to give evidence before
the Committee. Resolved, That the letter be acknowledged, and that the Hon. Mr. Gisborne be
informed that the Committee will be happy to meet him to-morrow, if he wishes to make any state-
mentrespecting his pension.

On the motion of Mr. Eeader Wood, Resolved, That all information be obtained with regard to
Sir William Fitzherbert's appointment as Commissionerof Crown Lands, his resignations, and his re-
appointments, if any; also, the dates of his several appointments to the Executive Council of the
colony and as Minister, and his resignations of the same. That similar informationbe obtained in
regard to the several appointments held by Messrs. Gisborne and Domett respectively

On the motion of Mr. Saunders, Resolved, That in all three cases the quantity of leave, onfull
pay or otherwise, granted to the pensioners respectively, during their terms of service, be ascertained
for the information of the Committee. That, in all three cases, the sums of money, if any, received by
the pensioners respectively, concurrently with their pensions, be ascertainedfor the information of the
Committee.

i

Wednesday, 13th July, 1881.
The Chairman reported that he had seen Sir William Eitzherbert, who had appointed to attend

the Committee, next Friday, at 11 a.m.
Hon. Mr. Gisborne, being in attendance according to appointment, made a statementwith regard

to his own pension and those of Mr. Domett and Sir William Eitzherbert; and he was subsequently
examinedby various members of the Committee on the subject of the pensions generally

Fbiday, 15th July, 1881.
Sir William Eitzherbert was in attendance according to appointment, and, having made a state-

ment with regard to his pension, he submitted himself for examination by the members of the Com-
mittee.

On the motion of Mr. Montgomery, Resolved, That the Hon. Sir William Fox be requested to
attend the Committeeat 11 a.m. on Wednesday, the 20th instant, until which date the Committee
should adjourn.

Wednesday, 20th July, 1881.
The Chairman read lettersfrom the Treasury of the 11th July,and the Colonial Secretary'sOffice,of

the 19th July, giving the information asked for on the subject of pensions, and reported that the Hon.
Mr, Gisborne desired to make some additions to his evidence. It was resolved that permission, be
granted.

On the motion of Mr. McLean, Ordered,That the following papers be obtained for the Committee,
viz.:—(1.) Applicationform, filled up by Sir William Eitzherbert when applyingfor his pension. (2.).



I.—sa IV

Copy of Governor's warrant granting such pension. (3.) Auditor-General'ssanction to tho payment.
Sir William Fox was present by appointment, and was examined by the Committee respecting

mattersrelating to pensions during the time he was a Minister of the Crown.
On the motion of Mr. Header Wood, Resolved, To summon theAuditor-General to give evidence

to-morrow,and meanwhile to have the papers printed for distribution to members of the Committee.

Thubsday, 21st July, 1881.
The Chairman read the Governor's warrant granting Sir William Fitzherbert's pension.
Mr. FitzGerald, being in attendance, was examined by the Committee on the subject of tho

pensions.
It was resolved to summon Dr. Knight for the next meeting.

Tuesday, 26th July, 1881.
Dr. Knight and the Hon. Mr. Gisborne were in attendance, and gave evidence on the subject of

pensions.
The Chairman read a letter and memorandumfrom Mr. FitzGerald.
On the motion of Mr. Header Wood, Resolved, That all the evidence in the pensions cases, not

already printed, be printed.

Wednesday, 27th July, 1881.
Moved by Mr. Reader Wood, That Sir William Fitzherbert claimed his pension under the

provisions of " The Civil Service Act, 18G6." To entitle him to the pension he draws, he should have
been sixty years of age, and have served fifteen years at the time it was given to him. Sir William
.Fitzherbert was appointed Commissioner of Crown Lands on the 24th June, 1859. He was appointed
to the political office of Colonial Treasurer,with a seat in theExecutive Council, on the 24th November,
1864. He had consequently served less than five and a half years at the time of that appointment;
and, according to the law laid down both by the present and late Attorney-General in Dr. Pollen's
case, Sir William Fitzherbert vacated his office of Commissioner of Crown Lands by accepting tho
political office of Colonial Treasurer. The opinion of Mr. Whitaker is, "An officer accepting another
office incompatible with it, ipsofacto vacates ihe first; and I am of opinion that the office of Minister
was incompatible with the other offices held by Dr. Pollen." And again, the same authority says,
" Incompatibility is the test in all cases. In Dr. Pollen's case, the offices of Premier and Colonial
Secretary, &c, were, in my opinion, incompatiblewith the offices of Government Agent, &a." Mr.
Attorney-General Stout is of the same opinion; he says, in reference to Dr. Pollen's' case, "he could
hardly be called a Civil servant, because he was a Minister; and it would have been incompatible with
his duties as Minister to have been, at the same time, a servant to his colleagues." Sir William
Fitzherbert's claim seems to be thus effectually disposed of, and he cannot, in the opinion of tho
Committee, be considered entitled to apension.

On the motion of Mr. Ballanco, Resolved, That the Committee adjourn until theevidence taken bj
the Committeebe printed.

Tuesday, 2nd August, 1881.
The order of reference of 28th July was read.
Mr. Header Wood obtained leave to amendhis motion by the insertion,after the word " years," of

the words " his provincial service being barred by section 31 of the Civil Service Act."
The discussion of the motion was postponed until next meeting.
On the morion of Mr. Montgomery, Resolved, That any opinions given by the Solicitor-Genera,

on any of the pensions under consideration, not already in evidence, be obtained from the Colonia
Secretary's Office.

Moved by Mr. McLean, That the Law Officers of the Crown be asked if the pensions to Mr.
Domett, Sir William Fitzherbert, Mr. Gisborne, and Dr. Pollen have been granted, and are being paid
according to law

And the question being put, the Committee divided :—
Ayes, 3.—Major Atkinson, Mr. McLean, Mr. Saunders.
Noes, 3.—Mr. Ballance, Mr. Montgomery, Mr. Moss.
The Chairman gave his casting vote with the Noes.
So it passed in the negative.
On the motion of Mr. McLean, Resolved, That, the Attorney-General and Solicitor-General be

asked to attend and giveevidence on thepension cases.

Thuhsdat, 4th August, 1881.
The Chairman reported that, owing to the illness o£ the Solicitor-General, he could notask him to*

attend at present.
The Hon. F. Whitaker (Attorney-G-eneral) was in attendance, and, in course of examination by

members of the Committee, gave his opinions with regard to the question of pensions.
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Tuesday, 9th August, 1881.
The Chairman read the Solicitor-General's opinion upon the subject of Dr. Pollen's pension, dated

25th June, 1878.
Moved by Mr. Saunders, That all the words after "That" in Mr. Eeader Wood's motion, be

omitted.
And the question being put, That the words proposed to be omitted stand part of the question, it

passed in the negative.
Moved by Mr. Saunders, That the following words be inserted after the word " That": "on the

2nd December, 1869, Mr. Fitzherbert applied to the Colonial Secretary for a superannuationallowance
under ' The Civil Service Act, 1866. To entitle him to a pension under that Act it was necessary,
under clauses 32 and 33 : (1.) That he should have ' attained the full age of sixty years at the date of
his resignation. (2.) That he should have been fifteen years in the Civil Service of Mew Zealand.
(3.) That the superannuation allowance should be equal to ' half the annual salary received by him
(as a Civil servant) during the two years preceding his superannuation.' None of these conditions
have been complied with. "With regard to the first of these conditions, we find that Mr. Fitzherbert
took a seat in the Ministry of Mr. Weld, as Colonial Treasurer and Commissioner of Customs, on the
24th of November, 1864, and thereby, in the recorded opinions of Attorneys-General Messrs. Stout
and Whitaker, ipso facto vacated the lower and subordinate office of Commissioner of Crown Lands,
when, by his own reckoning, he had only attained the ageof fifty-four years and four months. On the
24th of August, 1866,when only fifty-six years old, we find that he again accepted office as Colonial
Treasurer, which he held until the 23th of June, 1869. We also find that, on the 17th of November,
1869, he gave in his resignation as Commissioner of CrownLands, whilst he was still under the age of
sixty years. With regard to the second qualification, we find that Mr. Fitzherbert had only held a
colonial office in the Civil Service for five years andfive months, when, on thefirst occasion, he ipso facto
vacated that office by accepting the higher and the political office of Colonial Treasurer. If the
period between the 16th of October, 1865, and the 24th of August, 1866 (during which he didnot hold
the political office of ColonialTreasurer), be added, his period of colonial service can only count as six
years three months and eight days. The claim of Mr. Fitzherbert to benefit by the 31st section of the
Civil Service Act of 1866, and under which he claims to add the period of his provincial service,,
is evidentlybarred by the fact that, he was not a Civil servant but a political officer, at the time theAct
was passed. The Act expressly confines the privilege claimed to ' any officer now in the colonial
service :' the date of the Act being the Bth October, 1866, when Mr. Fitzherbert was Colonial
Treasurer Under the third condition, Mr. Fitzherbert could legally receive no superannuation allow-
ance, as he had received nothing as a Civil servant' during the two yearspreceding his superannuation,'
and upon which alone the Act upon which he claims authorizes the amount of pension beingcalculated.
Mr. Domett'spension of £559 10s. 6d. per annum, claimed under 'The Civil Service Superannuation
Act, 185S, and ' The Civil Service Amendment Act, 1861,' was granted on the 14th August, 1871.
He entered the colonial service on the 14th February, 1848, and claimed pensionfrom that date, or for
twenty-three years and six months ; but the claim for the time he held the political offices of Premier
and Colonial Secretary, in 1862-63, was disallowed, and his time computed at twenty-two years and
two months' service. The time that he was absent from his office in Nelson to attend the meetings o£
the House of Representatives, in Auckland and Wellington, during some months of each year for six
years, does not appear to have been deducted. He claims to have held the officeof Secretaryof Crown
Lands ' during almost all the period that he was Premier; and, therefore, it would appear that the
higher office was not then treated as incompatible with the lower; but he was duly re-appointed
Secretary for Crown Lands on the 24th December, 1863, only fifty-five daysafter he had ceased I o hold
the offices of Premier and Colonial Secretary ; and, on every other point, his pension appears to have
been granted in accordance with the provisions of the two Acts of 1855 and 1861, under which it was
claimed. Mr. Gisborne claimed his pension on the 30th March, 1875, under ' The Civil Service
Amendment Act, 1861.' The Civil Service Act of 1866, clause 29, in repealing the Act under which
Mr. Gisborne claimed a pension at the early age of fifty years, reserves the rights of 'persons
appointedto offices before the passing of that Act.' But Mr. Gisborne, at the time of claiming his'
pension, was not holding any office that he held in 1866 when thatAct was passed, and was therefore
not entitled to claim under it, even if he had not been deemed to have ipso facto vacated all
subordinate office by the acceptance of the political office of Colonial Secretary, on the sth July, 1869.
Without raising the latter point, the Solicitor-General, Mr. Eeid, writes on the 3rd November, 1876:
' I have given this matter very careful consideration, and have come to the conclusion that retiring
allowances can only be claimed under the Acts of 1858 and 1861 in respect of offices held prior to
the passing of the Act of 1866. So long as the person holds the office he held at the time of the
passing of the Act of 1866, he would be entitled to the privileges by that Act preserved to him ; but,
where subsequently to that Act such person accepts a new office, I think he cannot, in respect of the
new office, claim the privileges of the Acts of 1858 and 1861. This legal opinion is confirmed by
the Attorney-General, Mr. Whitaker, who, on the 6th November, 1876, writes:' I am of opinion that
in its legal aspect, as a matter of interpretation of Statutes, the above opinion of the Solicitor-General
is correct in stating the law as it stands at present. The only remedy, it appears to me, is a declar-
atory Act of the Assembly I think that should be prepared as soon as the Assembly meets again.'
No such Act was prepared or submitted to Parliament; and the pension thus illegally granted has ever
since continued to be illegally paid, and Mr. Gisborne continues toreceive a pension of £466 13s. 4d.
per annum ten years before he wasentitled to it under any existing law From the opinions so plainly
stated by the Solicitor- and Attorney-General in 1876, as well as of the morerecent opinions of Messrs.
Stout and Whitaker, that any office in the Civil Service was ipsofacto vacated by Mr. Gisborne, when
lie accepted the higher political office of Colonial Secretary on the 15th July, 1869, it will be evident
that any pension granted to Mr. Gisborne has not been grantedaccording to law But if Mr. Gisborne
hadbeen entitled to apension under the Acts of 1858and 1861 (and for this purpose they cannot be
separated), he could only have been entitled to it on such terms as those Acts provided ; and he must
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have come under theprovisions of clause 4 in theAct of 1858, which would clearly have forbidden him
to draw his pension as he did, whilst receiving £1,250 a year as the salary of the highpolitical offices
he held in the Grey Ministry As the colony will no doubt consider itself responsible for the actions
of its Governments, however impolitic or illegal they may have been, it becomes desirable that an
Act should be passed legalizing the pensions that have been granted to Sir William Fitzherbert and
the Hon. Mr. Gisborne, and removing all doubts as to the legality, the due date, and the amount of
Dr. Pollen's pension. At the same time it is most desirable that clause 36 of " The Civil Service Act,
18G6," should be amended, so as to distinctly comprise the same provisions as those of clause 4 in the
repealed Civil Service Superannuation Act of 1858, the provisions of which clause it was evidently and
most naturally intended to re-enact. The Attorney-General considers thespirit and intention of the
existing Act, clause 36, to be the same; but, in practice, it has proved insufficient to prevent Sir
William Fitzherbert and the Hon. Mr. Gisborne drawing their superannuation allowances, at the
same time that they were receiving large annual payments from the colony for political or other
services: advantage having been taken in their cases of the more technical circumstance that their
office did not bring them under the category of Civil servants."

On the motion of Mr. McLean, Resolved, To postpone the consideration of this motion for the
present.

On the motion of Mr. Montgomery, Resolved, That the Chairman and Mr. Saunders prepare a
statement of thefacts in the pension cases upon which to base the Committee'sreport.

Thursday, 11th August, 1881.
The Chairman read the statement prepared by Mr. Saunders and himself on the facts of the

pension cases.
Mr. Saunders having withdrawn his motion of the 9th August, by leave, it was moved by Mr.

Saunders, That, although there has been irregularity in the granting of the pensions to Sir William
Rtzherbert, the Hon. W Gisborne, and the Hon. Dr. Pollen, the Committee does not think that the
circumstances of the several cases are such as would render it advisable to repudiate liabilities based
on the Governor's warrants, and therefore recommends that all doubts as to the legality of those
pensions should be removed by a special Act.

Amendmentproposed by Mr. Moss, That, all the words after " That," in the first line, be omitted,
for the purpose of inserting the words, " the circumstances under which thesepensions were granted
vary in each case; and it is therefore just to the pensioners that the cases should be judgedseparately,
and a separate report andrecommendation on each be made to the House."

And the questionbeing put, That the words be so omitted, the Committee divided.
Ayes, 2.—Grey, Moss.
Noes, 6.—Atkinson, Ballance, Hall, McLean, Montgomery, Saunders.
So it passed in the negative.
Amendment proposed by Sir George Grey, To add the following words to the motion: " and

there areno circumstancesthat wouldin any case have justifiedtherepudiation of the pension granted
to the Hon. Mr. Gisborne."

Amendmentnegatived.
And the question being put, That Mr. Saunders's motion be agreed to, the Committee divided.
Ayes, 6.—Atkinson, Ballance, Hall, McLean, Montgomery, Saunders.
Noes, 2.-—Grey, Moss.
So it was resolved in the affirmative.
On the motion of Mr. Montgomery, Resolved, That the Chairman report to the House in accord-

ance with the draft report passed by the Committee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE.

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE ON PENSIONS.
Mr. E. C. J Stevens. Chairman.
Wednesday, 13th July, 1881.

The Hon. ~W G-isboene, M.H.E., examined.
1. Thfl Chairman.'] Mr. Gisborne, the Committee would like to know whether you wish to make

any statement in regard to this question of the pension to yourself?—l wrote to the Committee in
order to explainsomething that seemed to me to be not explained by the correspondence before the
Committee; but, as I slated, if the Committee desire it, I am willing to give evidence on any point
which may require further explanation.

2. Then, perhaps, you had better make a statement on the subject.—The subject divides itself into
two parts : one with reference to my action as a Minister of the Crown on the subject of the pensions
to Mr. Domett and Sir William Fitzherbert; and the otherwith regard to the circumstances under
which 1 obtained my own pension. My view was that, with regard to the pensions granted under
Acts of the General Assembly, the duty of the G-overnment of the day was to see that the condi-
tions of the Act under which the pensions were granted were fully complied with, and, for that pur-
pose the Government had to consult the Law Officers of the Crown and the Auditor-General, in
regard to the pensions of Mr. Domett and Sir William Ktzherbert, I acted in the manner indicated.
Although my name as Colonial Secretary appears on the letters before the Committee, it was not
writtenby me on my sole responsibility At every step I consulted my colleagues, and gave effect
to their unanimous opinion. That is what I have to say generally with regard to the pensions of
Mr. Domett and Sir William Fitzherbert. With respect to my own pension, I, of course, in claiming
that, was only acting as a G-overnment officer or a private individual. I had been in the G-overnment
service for about thirty years, and stated my case conscientiously, and allowed the Ministry of the
day to decide what their action upon it should be. They proceeded, I think, upon the principles
which guided other Governments in deciding these matters. They consulted the Law Officers and
the Auditor-General, and acted, as far as I know, in accordance with the opinion of those officers.
In my claim, I described the time during which I acted as Commissioner of Annuities as
part of my service. When I first took a political office I, for a time, actually severed
my connection with the Civil Service, and afterwards I was offered the post of head of
thn Government Insurance Department. Tor that I received no salary, because I was already
receiving payment as a member of the Ministry I may remark here, that I did consider-
able work in organizing and conducting the Insurance Department; and I received no remu-
neration for it In order to show that I did not spare myself in the matter of work, I may say
that for ten months I had no Under-Secretary, and 1 was doing the work of that officer as well as
my own. In accepting the Civil office of Commissionerof Annuities, I thought that, in justice to
myself and my family, I was not wrong in accepting a Civil office, after having been for so long
a time in the Government service, in order to complete an already lengthened term of service, and
to entitle myself to a pension. When I made the claim, the Atkinson Government were in office,
and there was, I believe, no question as to the legalityof any part of the claim which I made, except
in regard to that portion ot the time during which I performed the duties of Commissioner of
Annuities, as well as those of a Minister of the Crown. After I had left the Ministry, and had
accepted office as a Civil servant, I stood as a candidate for a seat in the House of Representatives,
and was elected ; and I then told the Colonial Secretary that, under these circumstances, to prevent
misconception, while my claim was in abeyance, I would withdrawit. With regard to some doubts
which have been raised, respecting the pensions of some other Civil servants who have resigned one
office and taken another, the Committee are probably aware that that point was settled by an Act called
"The Civil Service Acts Amendment Act, 1878." That Act was brought in by the Grey G-overnment,
before 1 joinedit, and passed by tne House in 1878. ThatAct settles the doubtsraised by the Solicitor-
General with regard to thepensions of certain officers of the Government. My pension was granted
under the Act of 1801. I believe it has been insinuated that myselfand other officers caused, or used
great influence to cause, these Acts to be passed. In respect of that, I have to say that the Act of 1858
was founded on some English Act, and, in regard to the Act of 1861, I wish to say that, though I was
Under-Secretary at the time, I did not attempt to use any influence to have it passed, nor was I con-
sul'ed about it. The Act of I<S66 was the outcome of certain inquiries and investigations made by a
Commission, which was appointed to inquire into the whole working of the Civil Service. I was a
member of that Commission, and we did all that we thought was fair, and were guided in a great
measure by ihe Acts of other Legislatures in regard to the pensions. 1 was not a memberof theLegisla-
ture when the Act of 1-66 was passed. I think it is only right that I should state another matter,
which, perhaps, the Committee has not yet been made aware of, and that is with regard to the riu;ht of
a Minister of the Crown to draw his pension, and also his salary at the same time In 1879, when Sir
George Grey was Premier, and 1 was for three months in his Ministry, this question arose; and I
referred to thefact that, in his own case, his Imperial pension to a certain extent ceased while he drew, I—l. sa.
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the colonial salary as Premier of New Zealand. He explained that that was in consequence of a
special provision in the Imperial Act, and he said he believed that the colonial law was not the same
as the English on the subject. He wrote a memorandum to the Solicitor-General, and, I think, to
the Aulitor-General, asking them to look into the matter, and see what the law was; and he said I
should not be wrongin drawing whatever the law allowed. They decided that, as the NewZealand law
stood, a Minister was entitled to draw his pension as well as his salary, and, consequently, for a time I
drew mypension as well as my salary as a Minister. That, I think, embodies all 1 have to say with
regard to the pensions of myself and the other persons named.

3. Do you remember the dates of your resignations of office?—l resigned in June, 18G9,the office
of Un<ler-Secretary, and five months afterwards I accepted the office of Government Insurance Com-
missioner. I held that office until I left the service. I had been many years ago a Commissioner of
Crown Lands, and a chief clerk in the Colonial Secretary's Office. I held the office of Uuder-Seeretary
until I resigned in 1869.

4 Could you tell the Committee what quantity of leave of absence you received, on full pay or
otherwise?—When I was Commissioner of Crown Lands in Auckland, in 1850 and 1851, I received
eighteen months leave of absence on half-pay, and that was the only occasion on whichI obiained leave
of absence to any extent either on full or half pay It was usual in the case of officers who had been
a long timein the service to give such officers leave of absence on full pay for a time, in order to give
themtime to make arrangements for their retirement. I had three months on that account. As I
have said, the only extended leave I have had was for eighteen months on half salary

5. You took political office in June, 1869 ?—Yes, it was in 1869.
6. It would appear from the papers that you took the office of Government Annuities Com-

missioner in Novemberof that year?—Yes.
7 And of course youresigned your post in the Civil Service before that?—Yes. I resigned in

June, but the law at the time was to the effect that, if an officer left the service and was again appointed
to it, the time he had previously served would be reckoned if he applied for a pension.

8. But there was a break in the continuity of your service?—Yes,of five or six months.
9. In your letterto the Secretary to the Treasury, of 27th November, 1876, you say that therewas

a distinct understanding that, while you performed theduties of Commissionerof Annuities in addition
to those of Minister, that time should count in the computation of your pension?—I say that that was
what was told me by the Premier, Sir William Fox, and other Ministers at the time. They told me
that the time during which I held office in the Civil Service would count in respect of my pension,
notwithstanding that at the same time I was a Minister of the Crown. In making my claim to Major
Atkinson, I understood that the Law Officers were of opinion that the service in question would count.
I took the Insurance Office on the strength of that understanding.

10. Do I understand you to imply that you risked the possible interpretation of the law, whenyou
took political office, as to your right to take Civil office ?—I was under the impression that the law
allowed it, and I was aware that the same thing had been done in the case of other officers.

11. On the veryface of these papers, Sir William Fox, who was, Ibelieve, thehead of the Govern-
ment which you joined, made a minute in reference to the case of Sir William Fitzherbert, to theeffect
that this case ought not to be drawn into a precedent ?—ln Sir WilliamFitzherbert's case there was
no pretence that he was doing the work of the Commissioner of Crown Lands, because even when he
was in the colony the duties were, 1 believe, for some time performed by a deputy; but when he went
to England I am certain that they were done by a deputy

12. Mr. McLean.] I see by your application for a pension, that you state you joinedthe service
on July 12th, 1847 What were your appointments when you first joined?—I came first as private
secretary to Lieutenant-Governor Eyre. I may say, withreference to that, that there had been other
cases in which Civil servants had been attachedto Governors personally, long before any Civil Service
Act was passed, and in those cases the timethey had so served had been allowed to count in regard to
their pensions.

13. Which Act do you claim to retire under?—The Civil Service Act of 1861.
14. Then you claim this £2,250 as for three years of service under that Act ?—I claim under the

Act which allowedan officer to retire at the age of fifty years. That is the Act of 1861, and thatAct
says that an officer who has reached the age of fifty years may retire.

15- How is this £2,250 madeup?—I suppose it was made up from information supplied by the
Treasury That information can be obiained from the Treasury

16. You resigned your non-political office in June, 1569, in orderto accept office in the Ministry ?
—Yes.

17 And up to that time you had been twenty-two years in the Government service ?—Yes.
18. And after that, you were a Minister from some time in June until the following November ?

—Yes ; but I was a Minister longer than that. I was a Minister from 1869 till 1872.
19. You retired from the Civil service in 1869, and after that youwere aMinisterfor three years?

—Yes, for three years and three months. When the Act (under which the office of Government
Insurance Commissioner was created) was passed, I was offered the position, and Iwas told that the
time during which I acted in that capacity would count when the question of my pension came up.

20. In 1869 you severed your connection with the Civil Service ?—Yes.
2L. And you did not make any application for your pension, reckoning your service of theprevious

three years ?—No, because I could not do so. I was not fifty years of age, and I could not produce
a medical certificate showing that I was in ill-health.

22. In what yearwas the first Government Insurance Act passed ?—ln 1869; but that was after-
wards repealed, and another was passedin 1872.

23. And it was passed soon after you became a Minister ?—lt was passed in the same session of
Parliament.

24. Was that the year in which you asstimed office as a Minister?—Yes, I assumed office in
November of the year in which the Act was passed.

25. Was the salary voted for the office in that year?—The Act, when first passed, stated that the
Governor in Council should declare a salary for the office not exceeding £800 a year, and Sir Julius
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Vogel stated that he was going to advise the Governor in Council to make it £800 a year ; and I ex-
pressed the opinion that it should only be £700 a year. In the following year, however, the Houso
expressed a wish that the salary, among others, should be left to it instead of its being fixed by the
Governor in Council. Prom that time the salary was always put down at £700 a year, and an asterisk
was always put against the item. The note of explanation was to the effect that the salary would not
be drawn during the time the Government Insurance Commissioner was also a Minister of the Crjwn.

26. Well, if this salary was not drawn every year, what was the reason of its being put en the
Estimates every time they were brought down ?—lt was considered fairer to let the House know that
the matter was subject to a vote of the House.

27 But what was the object of putting it on the Estimates, if it was known that the moneywould
not be drawn ?—lt was known that I might withdraw from the office at any moment; and it was
consideredproper that the House should know that the Government Insurance Commissioner was a
paid officer, and, ifI resigned it, it might be handed over to any person who was not a political officer,
and who, therefore, would have to be paid a salary As I have already explained, it was always
understood that, while the office was held by a political officer, there would be no salary drawn.

28. In 1872 you became Commissioner of Annuities? —I was already the Commissioner, but in
that year I became entitled to draw salary for the office. I was entitled to retire a short time before I
did so, and I held office longer than was necessary In fact, I went on a special mission at therequest
of Sir Julius Vogel, who was then Premier.

29. You pointed out some clause in one of the Civil Service Acts which enables a man, after
severinghis connection with the Civil Service,to count his previous service if he is reappointed?—Tes, I
think that is provided for in the Act of 1858. Take a case like this, for example: a person may have
been in the service for twenty years, but through some circumstance his connection with the service is
severed; afterwards he may be reinstated in the service, and in that case he would be entitled to
claim his previous service. But, of course, the time during which he was absent from the service
would not count.

30. If a manresigned from the Civil Service, and went into business on his own account and failed,
and afterwards re-entered the service, years afterwards, would you consider that he was entitled to
count his former service ?—lf Ministers reappointed him to the Civil Service, unless they made a
special conditionto thecontrary, they would of course be aware that he would be entitled to claim
under the Act the portion of his service that he had given previous to leavingthe Government employ

31. Then, when you accepted the office of Commissioner of Annuities, it was agreed between you
and the Government that in claiming your pension you should count your former service ?—There
was no agreement; but I was in the position of a Civil servant,who could according to law claim that
the time he had formerly served should count when he completed his service, and put in his claim for a
pension.

32. You say that, during the time you were a Minister, Sir George Grey got opinions from the
Law Officers of the Crown and the Auditor-General. Were those "opinions" left amongst the docu-
ments in the Government offices ?—I think so.

33. Mr. Reader Wood.'] You have spoken withreference to Sir William Fitzherbert's pension ?—
Yes, and also with regard to Mr. Domett's pension.

34. Then, with regard to your letter to Sir William Fitzherbert, dated December 22nd, which I
understood you to say was in accordance with the views of the Government at the time: In that
letter you say, in the beginning of the third paragraph, on page 4, " The Government, however,
willingly admit that your case is special, inasmuch as it involves the case of an officer holding his office
(in respect of which he claims pension) while also a Minister of the Crown, and that you have also
special claims for consideration." Do you mean by that that there should be special claims outside
of the law ?—What I meant by the word " special" was this: that, if the law allowed it, there was
great reason why his case should be specially considered, because he had gone to England on matters
of great colonial importance; and I thought, with him, that he was entitled to count the time during
which he was in England,but during which also he held the position of Commissioner of CrownLands
in this colony Mr. Stafford promised that he should be allowed to count that time. If the Law
Officers had been of opinion that it was contrary to law for him to do so, we should have had to appeal
to the House on the subject.

35. It appears to me that if the law allowed it, he could demand it, and there could be no
speciality about it?—We held that we could not do anything unless the Law Officers advised that the
thing could be done legally Of course, in using the expressions which I did, I could not have meant
that the Government wereentitled to break the law

36. It appears also that Sir William Fox, who was, I think, the head of the Government, used
somewhat similar language. He says, " The circumstances of the case are exceptional, arising out of
Mr. Fitzherbert havingheld responsible offices in the General Government, and his special agency in
England. The case ought not to be drawn into a precedent."—It was, no doubt, an exceptional case,
and as such he may have thought it inadvisable that it should occur again. I certainly was not of
opinion that we were acting outside the law

37 Hon. W Johnston.] I understood you to say that, when you resigned your appointment in.
June, 1869, the effect of your resignation was to deprive yourself of any claim which you might have
on the colony ?—Yes ; if the Ministry had been turned out of office between June and November, I
should have had no legal claim.

38. And that the effect of your fresh appointment as Commissioner of Annuities was to revive
anyrights which you had previously ?—Yes.

39. May Iask whether, at the time you resigned in June, 1569, you were aware that you were
going to takeoffice in the Fox Government ?—Yes, I was going to take office with Sir William Fox,
Sir Julius Vogel, and Sir Donald McLean. Those gentlemenwere already Ministers.

40. Who was Prime Minister ?—Sir William Fox.
41. At the time at which you took office as a Minister, did you resign your position in the Civil

Service in order to take office ?—Yes.
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42. Did you resign your position as Under-Secretary with the deliberateintention of depriving
yourself of all rights to apension; or,rather, with the intention of gettinganother appointment,and so
getting a right to a pension?—My object was this: I was very much pressed by Sir William Fox and
Sir Donald McLean to become a Minister, and I ran the risk of losing my service by so doing; but, of
course, I had the idea that I was not to be a Minister always, and 1 did not see that there was any
reason why, when I ceased to be a Minister, I should not have a chance of re-entering theCivil Service.
Of course there was no certainty about the matter. I thought also that, if I wereput out of office as a
Minister, I should, on account of my long service, have a claim to get into the Government employ
again.

43. Mr. Oliver.] You did actually perform the duties of Commissioner of Annuities?—Yes, I did
the work.

44. Mr. Sounders."] Do you think that the duties of Colonial Secretary are of such a character
that such an officer could discharge the duties of a subordinateoffice, in addition to his own work,
without neglecting his superior office ?—lt may appearegotistical to say so, but, though the duties of a
Minister have increased very much since 1809, I do not think I could have done the workif it had not
been for the fact that I had had great official experience in the Civil Service. I am positive that I
could not have done the work if 1 had not been so long in the Civil Service that I had gained a great
insight into the administrationof publicaffairs, and, perhaps, thus acquired a special facultyfor dealing
with the current business of an office.

45. In your correspondence,you have laid specialstress on thefact that you have saved thecolony
a certain amount of money by discharging the duties of the two offices together. Now, do you not
think that the colony must have lost far more by any interruption of your duties in the superior office
than it could have gainedby anything you did in the inferior office?—l really think the colony did not
suffer by that. I consider that the experience which I had in the Civil. Service was useful for the pur-
poses of the inferior office, as well as for those of the superior ; and I venture to say so, though, as I
stated before that, for ten months I had no Under-Secretary I feel now that, as a generalrule, a
Minister has quite enough to do, without undertaking anything else that may be considered to entail
onerous duties.

46. Now, with regard to Sir William Fitzherbert's pension: is there any Act which gives power
to the Government to give a Civil servant more than one year's leave of absence on full pay ?—Mr.
Stafford's Government considered they had authority to do so.

47 Do you consider it indispensable, in considering a pension, that the last three years' service
should bo taken into account ?—Yes ;in the case of a person fifty years of age. The Act says that.

48. It appears, in Sir William Fitzherbert's case, that he had no salaryfor the last year or so, and
yet his pension is calculated on the highest salary he ever received ?—That point was referred to the
Attorney-General.

49. Does it not strike you that it is contrary to lawto give a pension on a salary that has not been
received?—That is a question for a lawyer to decide. I should say, in regard to its legality, that the
opinion of the Attorney-General was the proper guide to the Government.

50. I understand that, according to your view, a Civil servant canresign at any time, and if he is
afterwardsreappointed, there is really no break in his claim ?—lf a Civil servant resigns, and receives
compensation, in the event of his being rcappointed he must repay that compensation, or his timewill
not count; but ifan officer resigned, and did not get compensation, but was subsequently reappointed
to the service, he would be allowed to count the two periods during which he had served, when he was
making a claim for a pension.

51. You are aware that Sir William Fitzherbert resigned his position as Commissioner of Crown
Lands in 1865?—1 do not remember the date, but I remember the letter which came to Mr Stafford,
in which the reasons for his resignation were given. Mr. Stafford would not accept his resignation on
that occasion; arid if Sir William Fitzherbert resigned in 1865, he must have been reappointed.

52. The Chairman.] I see by the papers, Mr. Gisborne, that in your case there was a question
raised on this matter of the counting of the time while you were a Minister. Major Atkinson made a
minute, in which he says that he is willing to approve of the payment of the pension to you, less the
time when you were a Minister?—Yes.

53. But ultimately your pension was computed on the full time of your service?—No, I withdrew
my claim, and the three years during which I was a Minister has not been counted.

54. The reason why I ask the question is that somewherein Dr. Pollen's case it was stated that it
was so ?—The timethat I was a Minister was not counted.

55. Hon. W Johnston'] There appear to be many cases in which officers of the Civil Service on
becoming Ministers were allowed their former service; but do you know of any case similar to your
own, in which a Minister has become a Civil servant?—I have known the case of a Minister of the
Crown who was called a Government Agent. I think thatMr. GeorgeMcLean acted as a Government
Agent in Otago while he was a Minister.*

Friday, 15th July, 1881.
Sir William Fitzhebbeet, examined.

56. The Chairman ] Sir William Fitzherbert has attended this meeting of the Committee with a
Tiew, if he thinks fit, of making any statement with regard to this question of his pension ; and it is
understood he ia prepared to reply to questions afterwards. He would like, perhaps, to make a state-
ment first.—What I would say is this: I have perused the printed documents. I looked out the
correspondence I had by me—the original correspondence—comparing them with what is printed.

* I should like to add, in reply to this question, that I havesince recollected two other cases—namely, that, of Mr.Stout,
who, when Attorney-G-eneral, and a member of the Cabinet, took the office of Land Claims Commissioner; and also thatof
Colonel Whilmore, who, when Colonial Secretary, was ako appointed Commissioner of Armed Constabulary. Ifthe Com-
mittee think I should give oral evidence to this effect, in order to make this addition pa t of my evidence, I am ready to do
bo.—W Gisboenb.—l9thJuly, 1881.
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They are right, excepting that there are two letters omitted. The first letter could scarcely huve been
expected to have been put in, because it is from the then Superintendent of theProvince of Wellington,
and the Government may have supposed they had no opportunityof obtaining that. Although, by-the-
bv, thatought not to be, because all the documents of the province were handed over to the Govern-
ment of the colon}'. [Letter from Dr. Featherston to Sir William Fitzherbert, dated 24th November,
1860, handed in, and read by Chairman.] I may state, in reference to that, that this letter is the
testimony of the officer under whom I immediately served for these years, that the duties of the office
in connection with which I applied for a pension were, in his opinion, faithfully performed. The last
letter is dated 3lst January,from the Colonial Secretary's Office. [Letter read by Chairman.]

57 Mr. Montgomery.^ That letter is not here ?—No. Neither of them. I think they are of
great importance, as showing that the resignation was sent in in proper order, stud the services
acknowledged as having been properly performed ; and showing that after an investigation the
Governor issued a warrant for a definite sum for apension. 1 have had that pension for tenyearn, and
I think it hard that it is now called in question. It is not a matter of indifference to me, but Ido not
know that I need be ashamed of that; it is rather a credit. But I may state this—it is, perhaps pertinent
to the subject: the present Premier was a member of the Government,when I, feeling that I could not
perform the higher duties that Iwas thencharged with, without prematurelyleavingEngland,was ready
to sacrifice my personal interests,and did absolutely send in my resignation, though thereby 1 hazarded
the pension which I had worked for for many years. The present Premier was a prominent; member of
the Government which refused to accept it—and that will be seen in the printed papers—with a view
to my ulterior prospect of a retiring allowance. Mr Gisborne at that timehad no office,he was simply
an Under-Secretary and was merely the mouth-piece of the Government of the day, of which Sir.
Fox and Mr. Vogel were members; and it was well known I could bring no influence to bear upon
those gentlemen. On the contrary, they were my political opponents. I put the application in—
everybody knew that—the thing was done before the people, in the presence of the people, with the
cognisance of the people. The Governor put his name to thewarrant for a definite sum, and I think it'
hard that it should now be called in question. At any rate, I did not give it to myself; my friends did
not give it me. The then Attorney-General did not take the same view that I did, as to the exact day
when 1 attainedthe age of sixty years ; but that is a mere bagatelle. It wouldonlyhave been for me, if
I wished, to continue that office ; I was not turned out of it. I had beenturnedout of the Government
by Messrs Fox and Vogel, and there was no reason, therefore, that I should not have continued the
office of Commissioner of Crown Lands. Mr. Hoklsworth was the deputy He had been acting
"when the Government of the day, after investigation, declared me entitled to a pension. I did not
wish to stand in the way of Mr. Holdsworth, but I have no doubt if I had expressed a wish to con-
tinue the few months to the end of July 1871, I could have done so. The Governor issued the war-
rant as from the 31st July, 1870. Ido not know that I have anything else to say to the Committee.

58 The Chairman.~\ 1 understandyou to say that these papers comprise the whole of the case, so
far as yon are aware, when the two lettersyou have put in are included?—Tes.

59. The computation of your pension included, did it not, the timeyou wereresponsible Minister?
Yes.

(iO. I think you were a Minister when you went to Englandfor the purposeof conversion and con-
solidation ?--Tes, I having leave of absence granted.

6) Do you happen to rememberwhether this matter was ever submitted to the Audit Office ?—■
I am not aware. I may say distinctly, it is thefirst time I ever heard of any objection, officially or un-
offi' iri 11y; I might have left the colony and, being persuaded that such a thing could not be altered,
have s<>ld my interest in the pension any day

62. 1 ask you that question because I see nothing in the papers relating to your case, or any sign
of the intervention of the Audit; whilst in all the other cases it rioes appear so P—No ; I have had no
intimation from any of the officers of the Government, either officially or seini-officially,or otherwise.
It is the lirst timeit has been subject to comment.

63. Then would it be right to assume that your pension was made the subject merely of legal
approval—that it was passed on the groundof legal opinion ?—All that I know is that I did not grant
myself the pension. 1 sent in mv application, and that was considered, with such results as are before
this Committee. The only intimation I have had is in the papers placed before the Committee; and
neither before nor subsequently have I ever received any communication.

64. During what portion of the computed period did you cease to perform the duties of Commis-
sioner of CrownLands?— When I went to England. In reality I was performing the duties at a prior
period, when I held office in the Government of the colony During that time the responsibilities of
the double work rested with me. I was constantly appealed to, and had the work to do, though I
received no payment for that time. When I went to England 1 had special leave of absence, and a
deputy was appointed to act for me.

65. Mr McLean.] You are aware, Sir William, that this is not the only case picked out. It
has all come out of the question whether you could hold the position of Minister, and the other
position, and be entitled to a pension ; and it is the case with all the other pensions. Did you fill up
any return of your dates of service, the same as is filled up by any other servant?—I suppose I did;
Ido notknow I have nothing but what I sent in. I had no communication with the Government,
verbal '>r written, except what appears in the papers before the Committee. The position was a kind
of double thing. The Committee wiil quite understand that the Commissioner of Crown Lands now
holds office under very different circumstances. It was a very mixed affair then. He had a kind of
an allegianceto the Government of thecolony, and also to the Superintendent; and it is very possible
that the Superintendent, to wrhom reference was made—as I believe appears in the printed papers—
did make a statement as to the services performed and amount due. That was not my statement,but
his statement.

60. You are aware that every one applying for a pension has to fill up a schedule of services, and
it was that schedule I was referring to ?—lf 1 filled it up myself it must be in the possession of the
General Government; I have no recollection myself. No letter was sent to me calling attention to
any omission on my part. In respect of this, I think I can refer to a fact that will make some im-
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pression on the mind of the Committee, that I did not greedily take all that I might have done;
because when I was first solicited to become a member of the Government, in 1864, I was holding the
position of Commissioner of Crown Lands, and also that of Receiver of Land Revenue, at an addi-
tional salary of £100 per year. But, when I found there was a manifest impropriety in retaining
the latter office,I gave it up, and I therefore did so far damage my subsequent claim for a larger
amount of retiring allowance.

67 Can you say how long your service was, independent of the time thatyou held a seat in the
Government. You were two or three times in the Government during the time you calculated for a
pension ?—I do not know, but I should think about two or three years—not that quite.

68. Was that counting that time? Of course you could not legally count your pension during
that time?— Ido not intend to interpret that. It was not for me to be the receiver of the pen-
sion and settle the terms of it. I did all I could; and if I had been asked to serve for a longer
period as Commissioner of Crown Lands I should have done so. As to whether it is legal or
otherwise, it was the duty of the then Attorney-General, the present Chief Justice, to have pointed
it out; it was the duty of the Auditor and Controller-General to have said so if anything was
wrong. And I think it a great shame and disgrace to those high officers, and to the Government
of the day who granted it, if they let me into a hole and gave me what I should not have had. It
was a still greatercrime upon thepublic, to grant aclaim that would not hold water. Ido not want
to, even if I had the capacity, to give a legal opinion. There is one thing I would draw attention to in
respect to the three years' time : I think you will find in Mr. Prendergast's opinion that he puts the
time at somewhat longer date, though he differs in regard to the question of age. I gavea suggestion
of what I thought wouldbe a fair ground of computation. He doesnot seem to have agreed withthat,
but he remarked that there was a time to come and goupon—someyear or more. And, I say, I ask the
Committee to consider this: that when leave of absence is given, and even putting aside the apparent
incongruity—and, if the Committeewish, I will givean opinion as to thecompatibility of holding the two
offices—I do think the effect of granting leave ofabsence is that a person comes in and has the benefit
of such leave in computation of service. It is not like a man giving; up office and then having
to take it again; but the meaning of the leave of absence carries that with it, especially as these
documents show it was granted with the view of saving the pension. That was said by the
Government of which the present Prime Minister was a prominent member. If the Committee
wish me to give them my opinion, whatever it may be worth, as to the question of an individual
holding two such offices as those of a Minister of the Crown and permanent officer in the Civil
Service, I am quite willing to give it. I say, frankly, I think that anybody—take any outside per-
son, a public man in any of the colonies or in the mother-country—and he would at first be
astonished at a Minister of the Crown holding a Civil office in the Civil Service; but I ask the
Committee to consider this, that it is not right to insist on the present more perfect order of
things and view prior transactions in the light of the more perfect state of opinion which now pre-
vails. I think that considerationis very applicable in this, and, I have no doubt, in other cases. It
is well known that in reality I never was one of those to go and gratify ambition lamfar from
speaking that in the sense of opprobrium ; but every office I have had has been pressed upon me, and
I have frequently refused. I frankly say, and it is, I think, to my credit, that this pension is an object
to me, and it would be exceedingly hard that I should be deprivedof it at this time. It is not the same
as a question of now granting it. But Ido say, as to incompatibility, it would be avery different thing
now than in the times you are treating of. Then it became almost a matterof absolute necessity, if a
man was thought capable,that he should agree to do the work of a Minister. I have never willingly
consentedto forego the just claims that I was entitled to. I think there is a manifest incompatibility
in the holding of two such offices ; nevertheless it was done with theconsent of the authorities. It was
on more than one occasion the subject of debate in the House. I say all those things werenot done
unknown to the House of Representatives. They knew, and the majority concurred in, the anomaly ;
and the circumstances of the country required such an anomaly

69. I understand you to say, we should look upon your case as different from the ones to be
judgedat the present time. Do you mean to say that we are judging some differentto yours ?—What
I wish the Committee to consider is the incompatibility of holding the offices of Minister of the Crown
and one in the Civil Service. I pointed out, at the same time, that it would be exceedingly hard
to judge a former thing by the light of a future time. I did not say anything that would affect any
other person's claim, that wasprobably contemporaneousor antecedent.

70. Then, I takeit, by that answer, that if any change was to be made, it would be after notice
was given ?—Yes. I think it would be exceedingly hard, when that which was apparently an anomaly,
but a necessary one from circumstances, that you should come now and apply stringent rules, that
could not have been applicable at the time I refer to.

71. Have you any recollection of your case being before the House itself?—lt was on more than
one occasion, when the anomaly—as it was then declared by some—of the Crown Lands Commissioner
holding a seat in the Government, was referred to.

72. I do not refer to the question of Commissionership ; I mean the question of pension?—Does
that not involve it ? The Parliament could not say this was done behind their back ; because the ques-
tion of having a seat in the House of Represensatives and holding the office of Crown Lands Commis-
sioner was involved in the discussion of that question.

73. The principal question just now is, were ever thesepapers in any waybefore the House. Had
the House any knowledge of them ?—Not that I know of.

74. On the face of these papers, would you consider that there was no pretension to a legal claim;
but that there was simply an equitable claim?—I do notknow, lam sure. I considered the question
bad to be discussed by the Attorney-General, and that he would not recommend the Governor to sign
the warrant,if he thought it was illegal. I think if you look at the letter from theColonial Secretary's
Office, that refers to the question of granting leave of absencefor the period from January until July
The action of the Attorney-General should show the question of legality

75. You will see that the question of holding the office of Minister and Commissioner of Crown
Lands being incompatible was never put to him. It was put in the case of Dr. Pollen, but not in your
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case. Therefore, 1 ask you, how long; service could you make up without counting your time ns
Minister of the Crown ?—I served as Minister about three years, and, from Mr. Prendergast's opinion,
there is a surplus of time. I imagine that the whole time would not be a year and a half. In fact, I
do not base my claim in respect to that. My political opponents lookedinto the thing; they referred
it to theAttorney-General;and it endedby their granting me apension, for which theGovernor signed
a warrant.

76. Were you actively engaged in conducting the Commissionership of Crown Lands for some
years before going to England?—Actively, myself; and I think I mayfairly appeal to the letter of
the Superintendenton that point. It is well known that the duties of Commissioner of Crown Lands
were repeatedly acknowledged to be performed in a satisfactory manner.

77 I ask whether or not you or your deputy did it ?—I had no deputy at all. The only timethat
Ihad—and then,in reality, I performed the duties—was on the occasion I was first in the Government.
Iwas in New Zealand, and the whole responsibility was upon me, and I performed the duties.

78. Mr. Oliver.'] Tou went Home at the end of 1867?—Tes.
79. On leave?—On leave.
80. What was leave granted for ? How long a time?—Twelve months.
81. "Was it competent for the Ministry to grant a longer leave?—l do not know
82. Was it at all contemplated that you might possibly be detained at Home longer than the1

twelve months ?—That was really the time I was supposed to be likely to be absent.
83. Had you foreseen the possibility of being detained longer, and of having to send in a claim

for a retiring allowance while you were at Home?—If my colleagues supposed my time would haye1
been longer, that question wouldhave come up. It was supposed twelvemonths was sufficient. When
I was requested by my colleagues to go to England on that mission, a mission to get thecolonyrelieved
of three-quarters of a million of public debt, and to convert the debentures—when they asked me to/
perform these duties I did not see my way to do so. They pressed me very much to go ; and I said,
"Very well, I must have a month to think it over." Then, among the things I had to consider, was
the question of giving up my office. I said, "If there is any difficulty in respect to this I shall not
go." 1 suppose they looked into it—your present Premier and others. I madeit a sine qua non that
I would not give up this, and I suppose they saw their way to give me leave of absence; but as to
whether the law would have allowed them to give more time, Ido not know It was thought twelve
months would be sufficient. It was only when I found that I could not do so, that, sacrificing my
personal interests, I tendered my resignation. The Government took the responsibility of refusing to
accept it. It was an ingredientpart, running through the whole, that I was not to be damagedin
respect of any computation of time of service.

84. Then it had been contemplated that this question might arise. Did you meet it then, or come
home, that your position should not be sacrificed ?—That was distinctly understood; I think the
printed letters show that.

85. Hon. W Johnston.") As a matter of fact, was it recognized by the House that a Minister
might holda position in the Civil Service, and didso?—Yes, it was particularly raised by Mr. Stafford
on more than one occasion. Mr Collins, no doubt, can give the House accurate information upon
that. It was levelled more particularly at myself, and sometimes against Mr. Domett, and we were
frequently the subject of comment on that point; but the House sanctioned it. I think there is a
manifest primafacie incompatibility; but in the beginning such anomalies had to go on, and ought not
afterwards to be thrown against an individual as if he had robbed the public. The House knew of it
as well as they know of anything discussed yesterday

86. Mr. Montgomery.] At what date didyou return to the colony?—I think in April, 1869. The
Panama line broke down, and prevented the possibility of my coming one or two months earlier.

87 The Chairman.] Sir William mnst have been here in May, because letters were addressed by.
him that month in Wellington?—I came by way of Melbourne; and if I had come direct by way of
Panama I should have been here from six weeks to two months earlier.

88. Mr. Montgomery.] At the date of your arrival here, were you a Minister of the Crown ?—
Yes.

89. When did you go out ofoffice as Minister ?—Very shortly afterwards. As soon as the House
met in June.

90 You tendered your resignation upon the 16th November?—Yes.
91. Did you wish to resign the office?—l supposed no question of difficulty had been raised about

areiiring allowance, though I had no interview with any of the members of the Government. Mr.
Holdsworth was appointed deputy, and I gathered it was wantedhe should have the office of Commis-
sioner ; but, if I had wished to keep on, the Government would scarcely have made me resign; and I
should most certainly have retained the office if the Government had intimated to me that it was
necessary thatI should continue the office to make up time. I did not want to stand in the way of
Mr. Holdsworth.

92. I suppose Mr. Holdsworth wanted the office ?—I suppose so. IfI had had my attention drawn
to difficulties in the way, I should not have imperilled my prospects.

93. You were receiving £650. What pension are you getting?—My pension is £325.
94. And you gave up that office, when you could haveretained it if you liked?—l did ; and I gave

up the office of Receiver of Land Revenue also, voluntarily, thereby reducing my claimto an addi-
tional £50 per annum of retiring allowance.

95. You gave up that £650, when you could have retained it, because there was an arrangement
with you and the Government?—I was contentedto have my pension assured to me.

96 That was the reason ?—Yes; I thought it was wished that I should resign.
97 By whom ?—Well, the Government of the day who had the arrangement of the thing. I ask

the Committee to consider that it was not a friendly Government, but my opponents, that gave me
this pension, when we were hot from a defeat. If the Government had thrown difficulties in the way
I should have retained my office.

98. That is what I wish to get out. You would have retained office had you not been assured of
your pension?—Yes.
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99. Mr. Moss.] I understand your pension has neverbeen the subject of dispute ?—Never.
100. Never, previous to this occasion?—Never.
101. And, I understand, also, that the maxima of government were different then to what pre-

vail now ?—Very different. As far as abstract principles are concerned, 1 think there is a manifest
incompatibility in holding the two offices. Ido not mean this to apply to any particular case ;I am
speaking generally Rather than lie under the imputation of taking money wrongfully, and contrary
to acknowledgedprinciples, I would starve. I think, as a principle, it is not a good one that you should
hold a Civil office and a position in aresponsible Government; but, if the few men then to be found had
not sacrificed their time, things in this country would have been very different.

102 In explanation of that, can you remember any instance in which paid officers of the Govern-
ment were called to the Upper House. This occurs to me as one of the differences between the
maxims that prevailed at that time, and what would be consideredright now?—I think there was.

103. I merely call attentionto that, as an important thing, illustrating one of the circumstances
connected with Sir William Fitzherbert's pension.

104. Mr. Saunders.] You reckon, I suppose, for the purposes of yourpension, that you resigned
on the 15th July, 1870?—Well, I sent in my resignation in November, 1869, and then the question
was considered by the Government, andreferred to the Attorney-General; and the way they did it was
this : they accepted my resignationas from the 15th July, 1870, eight months subsequently That
•was the doing of the Government.

105. I want to know what salary you had received on account of your Civil office for the previous
two years. I understand you did not draw salary while Commissioner of Crown Lands and Minister,
nor during the latter portion of your leave of absence ?—No.

106. Upon what, in the terms of the Act, was your pension calculated?'—You cannot ask me to
interpret" the law upon my own case. If I had to make out a case, welland good. I simply sent in the
data. The Government have their own officers to compute on those data.

107 Still, I understand, personally you are not aware of any law under which you could draw
your pension?—I donot say that. On the contrary, the very fact that I applied for a pension shows
that I thought I was entitled. I certainly should not have been guilty of applying to the Government
for a pension if I did not think I was entitled to it.

108. So far as I understand, you applied for a pension under an Act upon which the pension
should be calculated upon the salary you received during the last two years ?—I do not know All
these are subtleties which may or may not hold good in a Court of law I decline in the most distinct
manner to give any legal opinionas to whetherI was entitled or not. The duty of interpretation rested
with the Government of the day, and that Government were my political opponents.

109. I see that you resigned in 1869, and that the Provincial Council then reduced the salary to
£350 ?—Thai, is very possible ; I do not recollect it.

110. You can give us no explanation of that ?—No, I cannot, if it is a question of amount. The
Superintendent of the Province sent in that to the Government, and, if at the day you speak of there
was any redaction, I have norecollection of it. Still, that, I think, wouldnot affect the case. The amount
is not of my stating, but that of the Superintendent of the Province. He is responsible officially
Being informed that I must get a certificate of the amount that I hadreceived,I wrote to the Superin-
tendent, arid he forwarded to the Government the amount. I wish to state distinctly that I made no
specification upon my own authority

111. So far as I understand it, you received no salary for two years previous to the 15th July,
1870, on account of the office in the Government?—I know I did not. I cannot absolutely say I did
notreceive something, after I ceasedto hold office as Minister—after I sent in my resignation

112. Mr. McLean.] Mr. Moss spoke of an appointment in the Legislative Council. Do you recol-
lect a question coming up during your Government'stime in which your Governmentinsisted that Mr.
Strode should vote with the Government, he being a Resident Magistrate, or resign the seat in the
Council ?—I have noi a very distinct recollection, but something of thatkind occurred, and I believe
it is sunstani tally correct.

113. Uid not that *how the incompatibility of holding a seat in the Legislative Council as well as
in the Government, ? Now, I want to make another thing clear. In addition to your allowance,when
you went to England, they voted you the sum of £3,000 when you came back ?—Yes.

11.4. There was no understanding that that was to compensate you for loss of pension, was
there?— No; on 'he contrary When I got Home I found the expenses infinitely greater than I ex-
pected, and lat once wrote to that effect to Mr. Stafford. He said, ' I cannot alter that r.ow but
when you come back a sum will be placed for you." Well, a new Government came in, and they did
not at all see my service in the same light as my colleagues. Prior to their going in I brought this up
before my colleagues, and said, "1 leave it to you, but, as to the expenses to which 1 have been put,
less thai £3,000 won't reimburse me." When afterwards a hostile Government came in, they
■acknowledged the claim, and put £3,000 down for the reimbursement of expenses. In this vote,
remuneration for services was distinctly repudiated.

115. What was the allowance made you to England?—£s per day The vote of £3,000 was to
cover expenses incurred, and was in no sense either compensation fur pension or remuneration for
services. I consider that 1 was neverremunerated for the services so successfully rendered by me to
the colony.

Wednesday, 20th July, 1881.
Sir William Fox, K.C.M.G-., examined.

116. The Chairman'] The Committee desire you. Sir "William, to give evidence in regard to the
retirement of Sir William Fitzherbert, and the circumstances that surrounded his case, so far as you
were connected with it. Will you doso?—I am sorry to say that 1 nave very little, if any, recollec-
tion of it.

117 You slate in your minute, that the ease of Mr. Fitzherbert ought not to be drawn into a
precedent whilst at the same time you fullyconcurred in the course suggested, namely, that he should
retire on the terms mentioned?—Yes.
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118. Would you tell the Committee what was in your mind when you made that minute ?—Probably I had the same feeling that Mr. Gisborne had when he said that the case was a peculiar one,
and that the previous Government had given absolute pledges on the subject. The Hon. William
Gisborne, writing to Mr. Willisim Fitzherbert on 22nd December, 1869, says : " The late Government
expressly agreed, in giving you leave of absence as Commissionerof Crown Lands, duringyour special
mission to England, that such time should be allowed to be reckoned in the computation of your
retiring allowance ; and, when you tenderedyour resignation as Commissioner of Crown Lands, in 1868,
because you found that your public duties in England on the part of the colony would compel you to
overstay such leave, the late Government refused to accept your resignation, and repeated its assurance
to which I have referred." And I think that at that timethe general impression was that, whether it
was legal or not, the time that was spent by Mr. Fitzherbert in holding his Civil office should be
counted.

119. In the fourth paragraph of Mr Gisborne's letterto the Secretary to the Treasury, datedthe
27th November, 1870, the following passage occurs : " When I accepted the office of Commissionerof
Annuities, in November, 1809, it was on the distinct understanding that, while I performed its duties
in addition to those of a responsible Minister, I should not draw the salary, but that the time during
which I did its duties should count in computation of my pension." And Mr. Gisborne, inthe evidence
which he gave before this Committee afew days ago, says there was a distinct understanding on this
subject. His attention was called specially to those words by myself, when I askedhim the following
question : " In your letter to the Secretary to the Treasury of the 27th November, 1876, you say that
there was a distinct understanding that, while you performed the duties of Commissioner ofAnnuities
in addition to those of Minister, that time should count in the computation of your pension?" His
reply was, " I say that thatwas what was told me by thePremier, Sir WilliamFox, and other Ministers
at the time. They told me that the limeduring which I held office in the Civil Service would count in
respect of my pension, notwithstanding that at the same time I was a Minister of the Crown. In
making my claim to Major Atkinson, I understood that the Law Officers were of opinion that the
services in question wouid count. I took the Insurance Office on that understanding." Then I asked
him, " Do I understand you to imply thatyou risked the possible interpretation of the law when you
took political office, as to your right to take Civil office ?" and thereply was, " I was under the impres-
sion that the law allowed it, and I was aware that the same thing had been done in the case of other
officers." Then I said, "On thevery face of thesepapers,Sir William Fox, who was, I believe, the head
of the Government which you joined, made a minute in reference to the case of Sir William Fitzher-
bert to the effect that the case ought not to be drawn into a precedent ?" He replied, "InSir William
Fitzherbert's case there was no pretence that he was doing the work of the Commissioner of Crown
Lands, because even when he was in the colony the duties were, I believe, for some timeperformed by
a deputy ; but when he went to England lam quite certain that they weredone by a deputy " Do you
remember the circumstances sufficiently to give any information to the Committee? —Yes, I entirely
confirm the statements made by Mr. Gisborne. It was distinctly understood at the time he accepted
Ministerial office, which he did at my personal request, that he should hold theposition of Commis-
sioner of Insurance, but that he should receive no payment for his services in that capacity while he
held his Ministerial office; and I distinctly remember that it was agreed that the time he served as
Commissioner of Insurance should count when he applied for his pension. He is also right in saying
that there was a difference between his case and that of Mr. Fitzherbert, because I know that he did
actually do the work of his office; while Mr. Fitzherbert, being in England, did not do the work of the
Commissioner of Crown Lands. I entirely confirm all that he (Mr. Gisborne) has said before this
Committee on the subject. There was at that time probably a feeling in my mind, and in the minds of
others who were associated with me, that, as both the late Ministry and my own agreed that the time
should count, no objection should be raised, and, consequently, the matter did notbear thesame aspect
that it does nowwhen the question of its impropriety has been raised.

120. Tou formed your Administration in June, 1869 ?—lt was about that time.
121. And the office of Commissioner of Insurance had not been created at that time ?—Yes, I

think it had been ; at any rate, the office was contemplated.
122. The "distinct understanding " that Mr. Gisborne refers to was, that when he accepted the

office of Commissioner of Annuities it was understood that, while he held office as a Minister,he should
not draw salary for the former office ; but that, in applying for his pension, he should count the time
during which he had held the Civil office without salary ?—I am certain that thatwas the condition
upon which he accepted office as a Minister.

123. Your impression is that the Government Insurance Office was in existence on or about the
2nd July, when Mr. Gisborne joined your Ministry ?—That is my impression; but, at any rate, I am
quite certain that such an office was contemplated.

124. The Government Insurance Act was passed by your Government on the 3rd September,
1869?—That was the date of the Act being assented to by the Governor.

125. You say, as I understand, that when Mr. Gisborne took political office with you, it was on
the understanding that he should hold the office of Commissioner ofAnnuities without salary, and that
the time that he held that office should count in the computation of his pension ?—So far as I can
recollect I should say, most positively, that such was the case.

126. You see that the difference betweenyour opinion and Mr. Gisborne's is, that he thinks the
time was to count from the time when he took office as Commissioner of Insurance ?—I should like to
say that one sometimesrecollects a fact as a fact, but sometimes you only remember the impression
that is left by afact on your mind. In this case, I have always had the impression on my mind that
Mr. Gisborne acceptedoffice on the terms he has mentioned.

127 How could he have taken office on the 2nd July, 1869, with a distinct understanding, or any
understanding at all, that he should have an office which was not in existence, according to law, until
the 3rd September ?—lt was contemplated that the Act would be passed, and it was not thought that
there would be any difficulty about it.

2—l. sa.
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128. Do you think this was the understanding: that, if the Act was passed, and the office was
created, Mr. Gisborne should have it ?—Yes ; to the best of my recollection, it was an expressed con-
dition of his takingpolitical office that he should have thepost of Commissioner of Annuities.

129. Mr.Montgomery.] With regard to the minute on page 4, in which you state that the cir-
cumstances of this case are exceptional, did you understand, that the granting of Sir William Fitz-
herbert's pension was in contravention of the terms of " The Civil Service Act, 1866?" Was that why
it was exceptional ?—I cannot say, as I have not a distinct recollection of Sir William Fitzherbert's
case.

130. One of the reasons advanced against him was, that he was absent from the colony longer
than the Government had decided to allow him to be absent ?—Yes; but I think there was a pledge
given to him that his time should be allowed to count.

131. Do you think that a mere pledge should be allowed to override an Act of Parliament ?—No,
I do not; but the circumstances of this case wereexceptional.

132. Would it not have been the proper thing for the Government to have brought in an Act to
validate the granting of thispension ?—Yes, if the law had been violated ; and I would infer, from the
fact that no such Act was ever brought in, that it was not considered to be in violation of the law
The exception referred to, was the fact that theclaimant for the pension had not been holding office in
the colony during the whole timefor which he claimed. I would be guided principally by thefact that
a distinct pledge had been given by the previous Government; and, that being the case, I would pro-
bably not look veryminutely into all the circumstances of the case. But, of course, after the lapse of
a dozen years, I cannot remember all that passed through my mind. The case was a mixed one, and
which of the elements weighed most with me I cannot say

133. And though you said that this case was not to be made a precedent, still it was made a pre-
cedent ?—When I arranged with Mr. Gisborne about his accepting office, there was no reference to
Mr. Fitzherbert's pension, that I remember, so that it was not made a precedent by me. When Mr.
Gisborne's pension was afterwards granted, I was not in the Government, and had nothing to do with
it. It was probably considered on its own merits; and the action of both sides of the House appeared
to be agreeableto the course pursued.

184. Mr. Reader Wood.] I understood you to say just now thatyou supposed the granting of the
pension was thought to be legal, inasmuch as no validating law was brought in ?—Yes.

135. Had the House been made aware of the circumstances under which Sir William Fitzherbert's
pension was grantedbefore these papers werelaid on the table?—I cannot tell you. I have norecol-
lection of the question ever having been raised before.

136. Mr. Oliver.] Was Mr. Gisborne an officer of the Civil Service when he joined your Govern-
ment ?—Yes; he was Under-Secretary in the Colonial Secretary'soffice, and was the head of the Civil
Service at that time.

137 Is it not possible that your recollection of what occurred betweenyourselfand Mr. Gisborne,
with reference to his appointment to the office of Commissioner of Annuities, may be mixed up orcon-
fused with some conversation which took place before he joined you in the Government?—Of course
it is possible, but, as far as my memory serves me, it was distinctly understood that he accepted office
on the understanding that he should hold also the post of Commissioner of Annuities. If lam wrong
in this, Mr. Gisborne will probably be able to correct me. I have a distinctrecollection,however, that
Mr. Gisborne was virtually Commissioner of Annuities when he joined the Government.

138. Sir Q. Grey.'] I understand you to say that Mr. Gisborne might have a better recollection
of these matters than yourself, and that if, after all these years, there is a discrepancy between his
evidence and yours, you would consider that such discrepancies naturally arose from lapse of time ?—I
would prefer to believe in his recollection to my own, because the matter concerned him more closely
than myself, and his recollection would probably be more accurate.

Thtjesdat, 21st July, 1881.
Mr. J E. Fitzgekald, C.M.G., Auditor-General,examined.

139. The Chairman. .] The Committee have asked you, Mr. Fitzgerald, to attend herefor the pur-
pose of taking your evidence, as the head of the Audit Department, in regard to the pensions of
Messrs. Fitzherbert, Gisborne, and Domett, and Dr. Pollen. I would like to call your attention to
the 3rd page of the papers which have been laid before the House. Mr. Gisborne, in his minute,
refers to the Auditor, to state what the pension of Mr. William Fitzherbert would amount to under a
particular Act; and the reply to that is sent by a Mr. Hill, who signs on behalf of theAuditor. Can
you tell the Committee how it was that in that instance the Audit did not deal particularly with
the legality of the pension, but appeared to confine its attention exclusively to the computation of
the amount which he would have to receive, whereas in other cases the Audit intervened as a sort of
interpreter of the law?—I do not think I can give you any information on that point, as Iwas not in
the Audit Office at that time. Mr. Hill, who was chief clerk in the Audit Office, is now dead; but the
fact of his haying signed the memorandum seems to indicate that the matter was not brought under
the notice of Dr. Knight, who was at that time the head of the Audit Office.

140. Had you any connection with any of these cases except that of Dr. Pollen ?—I have no
recollection of having had anything to do with them. I did not join the Audit Office until 1872.

141. Then you think that your acquaintance with these cases is confined practically to that of
Dr. Pollen ?—Yes; but in dealingwith his case, I was probably aware of everything that had" been
done in respect of the other pensions you have mentioned.

142. You areaware that it was understood by the Government that was in office in 1869 that the
case of Mr. Fitzherbert was not to be made a precedent ?—I do not recollect that; but I have no doubt
it came under my notice at the time, if such was the case.

143. Mr. McLean.'] At the time Mr. Domett's pension was granted I suppose you had nothing to
dowith theAudit ?—IN o.
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144. At the time Mr. Fitzherbert's pension was granted, in 1870,had you anything to do with it ?
—No.

145. And you have no knowledge of any application by Mr. Fitzherbert for a pension coming
before you?—JSo, I think not. The Committee will understand that, at the time to which you refer,
there was noprior audit of payments in the colony at all, and, consequently, the matter would only
have come officially under the notice of the Audit after the pension had been paid. But it was the
custom always in"the case of pensions to refer the matter to the Audit Office, for the purpose of
having the calculations checked, so as to ascertain what the amount of the pension should be. All
such calculations, since I have had anything to do with the department, have been made by Mr.
Anderson.

146. Supposing an application for a pension were put in, as in this case, through whose hands
would it pass?—For many years, in fact ever since I have had anything to do with theAudit Depart-
ment, the calculations have been made by Mr. Anderson, the chief clerk; but whether he was chief
clerk in 1870 or not I am not quite sure.

147 It is probable we could trace this application of Mr. Fitzherbert's through him ?—Yes; I
think he would probably have ha co make the calculations ; but, of course, if any legal question was
raised, thematter would hay j come before Dr. Knight.

148. A question has arson as to the commission which the colony receives for thepayment of the
Imperial pensions. Do you know anything about that?—Yes ; that is a new feature which was intro-
duced into Dr. Pollen's case.

149. Can you explain how that money can get into the office in London, and come out here, with-
out being colonial funds—or. in other words, how does it get into, and how does it get out of, the
Treasury, without an Act of Parliament ?—The fact is, that the whole thing is illegal, from beginning
to end. It is somethinglike the arrangement that has been come to for the buying of silver coinfor
the English Government, and which is also illegal. The Governmenthere collects this coin as a matter
of courtesyto the Home Government. Similarly, when the troops werewithdrawn from this country,
the English Government asked the Colonial Government to pay, on its behalf, pensions to those who
were entitled to them. They agreed to pay 3 per cent, to the Colonial Government for the trouble it
would be put to in this matter. At the same time, it is one of those matters on which Parliament has
not been consulted, though I believe that Parliament had all the papers before it, and knew what was
being done. At the same time, I may be mistaken in that. The pensions are paid by the Treasury ;
and the pensioners' receipts are handed to the post office, and transmitted to England by that depart-
ment instead of cash. The post office in thecolonyalways owes to the post office in London something
like £60,000 a year for money orders. The pension receipts are, in fact, remitted by the post office aa
cash. That system has been in vogue ever since the troops went awayfrom here. It is an illegal
arrangement, no doubt, but it is what I should call a simple banking transaction. With regard to
this £300, which is received as commission for the payment of pensions—l may say that lam not
certain about the amount,but I know that it was more than was paid to Dr. Pollen—I have only to
remark that it has never been brought to charge at all; and what I understood, as far as my recollec-
tion serves me, is, that Sir JuliusVogel agreed to pay this £300 a year to Dr. Pollen for the purpose
of relieving the Consolidated Fund of a similar amount, and that, if that arrangement had not been
made, Dr. Pollen wouldhave received the £300 a year out of the Consolidated Fund for the two or
three offices which he held. As far as I remember, Dr. Pollen raised the question at the time, as to
whetherit would affect his pension, and was told by the Premier that it would not; and I think we
considered that, under that arrangement, it was virtually the same as if he had been paid out of the
Consolidated Fund, as he would have been if this arrangementhad not been made for the purpose of
economy

150. You say that the money has never been brought to account. Then, that being the ease,
where is the balance between the £300 that has been paid to Dr. Pollen and the £400 or £500
which has actually been received from the Imperial Government ?—I cannot say now, but I can letyou
know after I have looked into the matter. If there is any balance brought to account it willbe in
incidental revenue. There are certain other little expenses besides salary paid out of that account.

151. How does this £300 a year get out of the Treasury and paid to Dr. Pollen without a voteof
the House?—lt would have gotout in the usual way There are two accounts—namely, the Imperial
Pensions Advance Account and the Imperial Pensions Account. The Advance Account is the money
advanced by the Treasury for the purpose of paying the pensions to the pensioners; andthat is
recouped in the adjustment of the account. We lose no money by it. There can be no question that
there are one or two transactions of thiskind for which there is no parliamentary authority, and the
money is paid by way of imprest.

152. Then you cannot account for its not having been brought to account in the ordinary
incidental revenue?—It was considered not to be money belonging to the Colonial Government, but
money in regard to the paymentof which theColonial Government was acting simply as agents for the
Home Government. At the same time, lam not prepared to say that that was the correct view to take
of the matter.

153. Does it not strike you that all moneys coming into the hands of the Governmentof the colony
and having to go out of the Audit Office (which is under the control of the House) should be brought
into account ?—Yes, I think it is far better that it should be so.

154. The Government of New Zealand undertook to docertain work for the English Government;
in doing so were they not acting within the knowledge and with the tacit consent of Parliament?—I
donot say that what was done was strictly correct,but I simply state the fact that it has been done for
some time. The House had every means of knowing that the thing was being done. I mean that the
colony was doing the work for the Imperial Government, because the item for Imperial pensions has
appeared on the Estimatesfor many years. There can be no doubt that the House knew that we were
paying the Imperial pensions. The money was paid out of what was called a " Suspense Account."
The colony owes the English Government certainmoneys, and out of thosemoneys we pay the pensions
instead of sending the money direct to England. That is theexplanation of the transaction; but it is
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quite true that in doing this we lend England moneys for a short time, inasmuch as we make advances
out of the public chest for the payment of thesepensions,

155. Mr. Reader Wood.'] I understood you to say that you considered, in calculating Dr. Pollen's
pension, that the £300 paid to him out of this Imperial Pension Fund was exactly the same as if the
money had been voted by the House ?—I. say that it' it had not been so paid it would have been voted
by the House.

156. But the House had no control over this money. How then could theAudit deal with it as
if it werevoted by the House ?—lam not defending the arrangement that was made, I am simply
stating what was done. It was a distinct arrangement made with Dr. Pollen.

157 Would the Audit Office, the servant of the House, whose business it is to see that the
Government acts within the law, allow an illegal transaction to take place?—As I have said, I do not
think the thing was strictly legal; but, as a matter of equity, Dr Pollen was a Civil servant, though
his salary was not paid out of the colonial chest, but was drawnfrom a fund which was outside the
control of Parliament.

158. Do you, or do you not, think that if the Audit is to allow outside arrangements of thiskind
between a Minister and a Civil servant, it is protecting the inierests of Parliament? It seems to me
that the Audit should have informed Parliament of the circumstances of the case. Is not that your
opinion?—I am of opinion that the case admits of argument on both sides. The circumstances are
peculiar. lam not prepared to say that the thing was strictly legal ; but I find that on February 13th,
1880, I wrote the following memorandumto Mr. Anderson : " The opinion of the Law Officers is that
the time during which Dr. Pollen was Minister was not to count, but that the salary as Paymaster of
Imperial Pensions was to count. Please calculate accordingly, under the most favourable Act."

159. Do you consider yourself always bound by the opinion of the Law Officers if your own
opinion is contrary to theirs ?—No, Ido not. I may say that it appears to me, after looking over the
papers which are before the Committee, that very little consideration was given to the point upon
which lam now being examined. The main consideration seems to have been the counting of the
time during which Dr. Pollen was a Minister.

160. You will observe that Dr. Knight, in his memorandum on page 20, says, after referring to
the opinion of theLaw Officer: "Acting on this opinion, and having obtained Dr. Pollen's certificate
thathe has held the office and discharged the dutiesrequired of him up to the 30th October, 1876, the
claim of £408 6s. Bd. was not further objected to." It would seem,from the way in which Dr. Knight
has worded that, that he has acted on the opinion of the Law Officer, although he himself did not
concur in the opinion of theLaw Officer?—Tes, that is frequently the case. I have done so myself;
but I should be very careful in doing so, because I think it is the duty of the Audit to be guided as
far as possible by the opinion of the Law Officers, but not to be always bound by it.

161. Look at your own letter of 6th December, 1876, on page 18 of the papers. In paragraph 3
you quote this language : " ' This Act shallnot apply to offices whoseholders have seats in the Executive
Council,' &c. I think this must be held to mean 'whose holders have in virtue of such seats,' &c,
and is intendedto refer to Ministerial offices only " Might not those words really have meant that
Ministers, and persons holding political office, shall have no connection of any kind whatever with the
Civil Service?—I think not. I think it was intended to mean that Ministers werenot, as Ministers,
Civil servants within the meaning of the Act.

162. You think the Legislature meant simply to prevent Ministers from drawing salaries as Civil
servants while they held office as Ministers?—Yes. Judging from the silence of the Act, on the
subject, I imagine that the Legislature did not contemplate the case of Civil servants becoming
Ministers.

163. Does not the Act contemplate that if a Civil servant joined the Ministry, and afterwards was
reappointed to the Civil Service, the time during which he served as Minister should not count when
he applied for a pension ?—Yes ; it seems to me that you are thinking of the amount of thepension
more than of the timeof service which was to count. The Minister's salary has never beenreckoned
as affecting the amount. We are now dealing with the question of the length of time during which an
officer has been a Civil servant. If he has defacto been a Civil servant during the time he has also
been a Minister, I confess that I can see nothing in the Act that necessitates the not counting of that
time in his service.

164. Do you not think that is a defect in the Act itself ?—I am notprepared to give any opinion
with regard to that.

165. At the conclusion of the letter which you wrote on September 6th, 1876, you say, " Nor is it
our duty to express any opinion as to the propriety or legality of the position on constitutionalgrounds
of the double character of a political or Civil office being united." On what grounds did you think it
not your duty to express your opinion ?—I think that the fewer opinions I express the better.

166. Will you favour the Committeewith your opinion on the constitutional ground?-—You must
recollect that you are asking that question of an officer who is debarred from giving any opinion on
political matters.

167 Then I should like your opinion on one point, and that is the simple legality of the monthly
payments that are now being made to the pensioners under the Pensions Act. Is there any appropria-
tion clause in any of these Acts which justifies the Audit in paying these ainounis without there being
a special appropriationclause in the Act?—You ask me whether the Civil Service Act is of the nature
of apermanent Appropriation Act. Well, all I have to say is that there are payments made under
several Acts of Parliament, which are not, in my opinion, Appropriation Acts, and which do not con-
tain the words " issue and apply " I have brought that under the notice of the Government, but the
rule of the Audit Office has been that, where transactions have sj;one on for many years, and where they
have been submitted to the House for many years without objection being raised, it is not the duty of
the Audit Office in such cases to take exception to the payments. At the same time,I admit that these
Acts are not,properly speaking, Appropriation Acts; and I may further add, that there were formerly
more of these Acts in existence than there are now. When Sir Julius Vogel was Treasurer, he altered
the plan with regard to a number of the old Acts, and had everything brought upon the Estimates;
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except in the case o£ two or three Acts, one of which is the Civil Service Act and another the Military
Pensions Act. There are only one or two of these which are not, properly speaking, Appropriation
Acts, and, in regard to them, we have held that where it has been thepractice for many years to pay
under them we should not be acting rightly in refusing to make the payments as usual.

168. Then you say that there is no appropriation clause for these payments?—There is the tacit
consent of Parliament, for many years, to accept them as Appropriation Acts; and there is not the
slightest doubt that at the time theseActs werepassed Parliament consideredthem to be Appropriation
Acts. It is only during the last few years that the words, "to be paid out of moneys appropriated by
Parliament for the purpose," have been used in Acts, which, like the Civil Service Act, create claims on
the Government, but do not specify out of what funds they are to be met.

169. Yoli draw your own salary under the Public RevenuesAct ?—Yes.
170. You willfind there a distinct and specific appropriation clause, to the effect that money shall

be applied for that purpose out of the consolidated revenue?—Yes.
171 Js thereany such appropriation clause in any of these Acts ?—No, but the Acts were passed

by the Legislature, who were under the impression that they wereAppropriation Acts.
172. And in the Appropriation Act there was always aclause specificallyauthorizing the payment

of salaries out ofcertain funds, and stating what funds they should be paid out of?—Yes ; but, in the
public accountslaid beforeParliament every year, there appearunder the head of " PermanentCharges "
specified amounts which have been paid under the Acts to which I have referred, and Parliament has
never taken exception to them.

173. Do you think the practice is irregular?—I think thepractice has arisen from a loose system.
These payments used to be madeunder about a dozen of theseActs, which were supposed to be of the
nature of permanent Appropriation Acts.

174. Is it not possible that, when Parliament passed these Acts, they thought that proper appro-
priation clauses would be inserted in the Appropriation Act?—No ; because it is not possible to make
a correct estimate for services of this kind. A pension is nevervoted by the House yearby year. You
could not have an Act, givinga man the right to receive, year by year, a pension, and at the same time
say that the House shall decide year by year whether he shall have it or not. The only things that
are wanting in these Acts are the words which are nowcontained in a permanent Appropriation Act,
" the Treasurer shall issue and pay the same."

175. Mr. Moss.'] What do you consider constitutes an office held under the Colonial G-overnment
and in the Civil Service of the colony ? Is an office for which an annual appropriation is not made an
office held under the Civil Service ?—Properly speaking, an officer is not in the Civil Service unless his
salary is appropriated. The Civil Service Act does not apply to certain persons, and, amongst others,
to "any person paid by fees or commission."

176. In your opinion, the Paymaster of Imperial Pensions was not an officer of the Colonial
Government?—-No, not as Paymaster of Imperial Pensions ; but Dr. Pollen held other offices, in virtue
of which he was a Civil servant.

177 And yet the opinion given by the Law Officer of the Crown, on the 30th October. 1876, is to
this effect: " I understand that the offices in respect of which Dr. Pollen claims retiring allowance are
all offices held under the Colonial Government, and in the Civil Service of the colony?"—I find that I
have made a mistake. I was going according to the Act of 1866, while Dr. Pollen's claim was made
under the Acts of 1858 or 1861.

178. I notice that there is an inconsistency between a memorandum ofMr. Anderson, on page 18
of the papers, and the opinion of Mr. Beid, the Law Officer, on page 19. Mr. Anderson distinctly
states that this salary is not paid to Dr. Pollen by the colony ; and, when thatmemorandum is referred
to the Law Officer by Mr. Batkin, the Law Officer bases the opinion which he gives on the statement
that all the offices held by Dr. Pollen were offices in the Civil Service, but it it is not shown how he
arrived at that opinion?—I think that instead of the words " I understand," &c, Mr. lteid should have
used the words, "Itis my opinion," &c. Sofar as the Act of 1861 is concerned, I considered that this
officer was in the Civil Service.

179. Then you consider Dr. Pollen to have been in the Civil Service when he was acting as Pay-
master of Imperial Pensions ?—No, I do not think so, if you put it to me on strictly legal grounds.
The money was paid to him as it was, only for the purpose of relieving thecolony of a certain amount
of expense.

180. Hon. W Johnston.'] How did it happen that the salary of Dr. Pollen as Paymaster of
Imperial Pensions was issued from the Treasury by the Controller withoutbeing voted by the House?■—I have already explained that the colony was simply acting as the agent of the English Government
in the matter.

181. Do you know that it is proposed to appropriate that money this year, and that disbursements
from that fund are set forth in theEstimates?—No, I have not yet seen the Estimates.

182. Mr. Oliver.] The moneywhich was to be given to the colony by the English Government for
the paymentof these pensions was to be given for services rendered, was it not ?—Yes.

183. And the colony consequently became the paid agent of the English Government?—Yes.
184. Just in the same manner that the Public Trustee earns certain moneys for the colony by

doing certain work?—Yes.
185. Then the money which was paid to the colony became, or ought to have become, colonial

revenue?—lt was revenue received for services which the Government of the colony had no right to
perform. That is to say, they had no authority from the General Assembly to perform this service.
The whole transaction is an illegal one, as I have alreadyexplained. There was no authorityexcept the
plenary power which is given to all Governments to do that which they think is bent for the State ; and
in this case they, I suppose, considered it best to enter into an arrangement of the kind with the
Imperial Government, by which no loss could be incurred by the colony

186. And, as a matter of fact, the performance of this serviceresulted in a profit to the colony ?—
Yes, it earned a profit to the colony, because the amount earned was greater than the salary which
was paid to Dr. Pollen for doing the work.
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187 Then, as a matter of fact, you are ofopinion that the money so earned was colonial revenue ?
—The profit was certainly revenue.

188 If a Government railway carries a passenger from one place to another, thefare paid by that
passenger is colonial revenue, is it not ?—Yes.

189. Can you make any distinction between the money paid by that passenger, and the money
received from the Imperial Government for the services of the Paymaster of Imperial Pensions?
Tes. The payment made to the ColonialGovernment by the Home Government, for services rendered
by the former as agent for the latter, does not appear to me to be necessarily revenue.

190. Why do you consider that moneyreceived by the colonyfor services rendered is notrevenue?
—The money belongs to the Home Government.

191. After it has been earned by the colony does it belong to the Home Government?—lt is
expended in carrying out the wishes of the Home Government. It must be remembered that this
money is only commission. Suppose that, instead of paying this commission the Home Government
had paid the actual cost of paying these pensions, I should not have called the amount then received
revenue; but instead of paying the actual cost they pay a commission of 3 per cent., and therefore I
do not look upon it as revenue at all. I only look upon the profit as revenue.

192. Are we to consider nothing revenuethat doesnot yield a profit to the colony ?—I do not see
exactly what you mean. As I have already told the Committee, I consider that the whole thing is
without the authority of law

193. Do you not think that this moneywhich has been received from the Home Government
should have been brought to account in the same way that other revenue was?—No, I do not think it
was necessarily so.

194. Can you point out any other way in which it could have been dealt with ?—There is no
specific authority or power for dealing with the matter at all, because it is outside the law We are
advancing public moneysfor the benefit of the Imperial Government; but, if the Imperial Govern-
ment sent us out the cash to pay these pensions, I think the Government of this colony would be
acting rightly if theypaid away the money without Legislativeauthority You must recollect that we
always owe the Home Government money, and, as a matter of fact, the whole thing assumes the
character of a banking or exchange transaction.

195. What would you call the balance of the money which is received from the Imperial Govern-
ment, but which is not profit ?—That is money belonging to the Home Government, which is spent in
its service. I have no doubt that it would have been much better to have regarded this money as
revenue, and, by so doing, have brought it into the Public Account.

196. Is it your opinion that Dr. Pollen ought not to be made to suffer in consequence of this
money not having been brought into the Public Account ?—The view we took was that the office of
Paymaster of Imperial Pensions was equivalent to a colonial office, because Dr. Pollen already held
several colonial offices. His salary for this particular office was simply shifted from one account to
another for the sake of economy If the money for his salary had been voted in the ordinary way
this question would never have arisen.

197 And you seem to have been of opinion that Dr. Pollen ought not to suffer on account of this
irregularity ?—Certainly ; for he was holding other offices, and doing the work of other offices at the
time, for which he received no salary

198. The Chairman ] In your memorandum of February 11th, 1880, I notice that you express the
opinion that the second section of the Act of 1866 precludes Dr. Pollen from counting his salary as
Paymaster of Imperial Pensions, and, the opinion of the Solicitor-Generalbeing adverse to your view
upon that point, you gave way upon it ?—That appears to have been my opinion, judging by my
memorandum of the 13th February

199. That, I suppose,was one of those instances in which theAudit didnot consider itself justified
in acting contrary to the opinion of the Law Officers ?—I do not think the Audit would be justifiedin
acting contrary to the opinion of the Law Officers, unless it had very strong grounds for thinking that
the Law Officers were wrong.

200. And that is the general practice of the Audit in cases of that sort ?—Yes; but we always
refer to the Law Officers first.

201. It is the fact, therefore, that in the case of Dr. Pollen the ordinary course was pursued, and
that there was no departure by the Audit from the ordinary course in regard to matters involving legal
consideration ?—No, there was no departure at all from the usual course.

202. Mr. Moss.] Did Dr. Pollen hold both offices of Sub-Treasurer and Paymaster of Imperial Pen-
sions at the same time?—Yes, I think so ; and he was also Agent for the Government at Auckland.

203. And the salary of these two offices was £400 a year?—I cannotrecollect exactly, but to the
best of my recollection he neverresigned any of his offices.

204. Do you know who is Sub-Treasurer now, or who was appointed Sub-Treasurer when Dr.
Pollen resigned?—There areno Sub-Treasurers now. The office has been abolished throughout the
colony

205. Who was appointed Government Agent in his place ?—I do not think anybody was ap-
pointed.

206. Does not the Collector of Customs act as a sort of Sub-Treasurer?—No, he makes no pay-
ments. Any payments that cannot be made from the Treasury direct are made by imprestees.

207 Have you any idea of what the duties of the Paymaster of Imperial Pensions were?—Yes;
he had actually to take the money in his pocket and travel round the different villages, and pay the
pensioners. He had also to get receipts for the money so paid, and forward them to the Home
Government.

208. Did Dr. Pollen do that work himself?—l think he was assisted by Colonel Haultain.
209. Dr. Pollen was very often absent from Auckland while he held that office, and I think he was

Minister whilehe held it. Did he continue to draw his pay while he was a Minister for acting as Pay-
master?—I do not think he drew hia pay while he was a Minister, but he continued to hold the office
nominally.



15 t.—sa
210. Then, when he held the office nominally, while he was a Minister, what became of the

salary ?—I do not know, but it would go to the credit of the colony It would be paid into the Trea-
sury as miscellaneous revenue. It would have been very much better if this money, which wasre-
ceived from the Imperial Government, had been always considered Colonial revenue.

211. Hon. W Johnston.'] I understand you to say thatpayments made to the Colonial Government
by the Home Government for services rendered should not be considered colonial revenue. Do you
not consider the moneys received by the Post Office for moneyorders from the Home Government
colonial revenue?—No, they are not colonialrevenue. They are not brought into account as revenue,
but they are made public moneys, and the property of the Crown, for the purpose of bringing them
under the controlof theAudit.

212. I refer to the commission received for money orders ?—That is brought to charge as part o£
the postal revenue.

213. Is not that an exactly similar case to that of thepayment of Imperial pensions?—Yes, it is.
The only difference is that the one thing is authorized by statute, and the other is not. One is settled
by law, and the other is a transaction outside the law

214. Mr. G McLean.] Let us suppose a case of this sort: if that money came out to you as the
servant of the House, and you chose to put it into yourpocket, and used it for your own purposes, who
wouldhave torefund it to the Home Government?—Of course thecolony, having undertakento do the
the work, would have to do it, whether it lost or gained by it. If any of the money was lost, no doubt
the colony would have to make it good.

215. Now, the Government is the Government of the colony, and I wish to ask you, whether, as
such, it has any right to enter into private transactions of this kind, which might cause a loss to the
colony?—Certainly not. Any contract made by the Crown for the expenditureof moneys without the
sanction of Parliament is ah initio null and void.

216. And ifanything had happened to this money, the colony would have been responsible for it?
—Yes, practically; but if the House chose not to vote it, lam not prepared to say what would be the
position then.

217 Mr. Moss.] How is an officer appointed, so as to bring him under the Act of 1858 or 1861?
—If I may say so, without being deemed impertinent, I think it would be a very good thing if the
Committee were to ask how all the officers in the Civil Service were appointed, because at present
there is a good deal of irregularity There are men who are considered to be in the Civil Service who
have never had a properofficial appointment; and some portion of the staff is employed temporarily on
day wages, the only warrant for their employment being the initials of a Minister. Those menare not
considered to be in the service. I hold that every person who is appointed to the Civil Service should
receive an official letter ofappointment, and that certain officers should be appointed under the hand of
the Governor.

218. Was Dr. Pollen's appointment as Paymaster of Imperial Pensions gazetted?—l think not.
219. Is it not usual to gazetteappointments to the Civil Service ?—Yes; but I do not think that

Dr. Pollen belonged to the Civil Service in his capacity as Pay master of Imperial Pensions, although
he drew salaries for other offices.

220. Were the duties of the Sub-Treasurer so light that Dr. Pollen could perform them in addi-
tion to his other work?—I cannot say ; but I know that Dr. Pollen always did perform his duties. He
really was a hard worker, and was the most satisfactory man of business I ever met.

221. Was not the whole of the work of the Paymaster of Imperial Pensions performed by officers
other than Dr. Pollen, and had he not only to sign the vouchers ?—I do not know I cannot say

222. Son. W Johnston.] Under the Public Revenues Act, out of what account was the commis-
sion paid ?—lt was not paid at all; it would only be deducted from the amount which the colony owed
theEnglish Government.

223. On the receipt of the money, what fund would it go into?—Perhaps into the Imperial
Pensions Advance Account, or, probably, to the Consolidated Fund. lam not quite sure; but I will
look up that point, and inform the Committee.

Tuesday, 26th July, 1881.
Hon. W G-isbokne, M.H.R., examined.

224. The Chairman.'] The object of the Committee in asking you to attend here again, Mr.
Gisborne, was to inform you of a point ofdifference between a statement you madewhen you were last
before the Committeeand a statement on the same subject which has since been made by Sir William.
Fox. His attention was drawn to the statement made in your letter of the 27th November, 1876, to
the effect that, you accepted the office of Commissioner of Annuities on the distinct understanding that
while you performed the duties in addition to those of Minister your time should count, but that the
time duringwhich you were a Minister should not count in the computation of your pension. I will
read to you the questions that were put to Sir William Fox on that point, and his replies to them.
They are as follows :—Mr. Gisborne wasasked : " Yousay therewas adistinct understanding that, while
you performed the duties of Commissioner of Anuuities in addition to those of Minister, that time
should count in the computation of your pension ?" His reply was, " I say that that was what was
told me by the Premier, Sir William Pox, and other Ministers at the time. They told me
that the time during which I held office in the Civil Service would count in respect of my
pension, notwithstanding that at the same time I was a Minister of the Crown. In making
my claim to Major Atkinson, I understood that the Law Officers were of opinion that the
services in question would count. I took the Insurance Office on that understanding." Then I asked
him, " Do I understand you to imply that you risked the possible interpretation of the law when you
took political office, as to yourright to take Civil office ?" and thereply was, " Iwas under the impres-
sion that the law allowed it, and I was aware that the same thing had been done in the case of other
officers." Then I said, yOn tie very face of these papers, Sir William Fox, who was, I believe thehfcaij
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of the Government which you joined, made a minute in reference to the case of Sir William Fitzher-
bert to the effect that the case ought not to be drawn into a precedent ?" He replied, "In Sir William
Fitzherbert's case there was no pretence that he was doing the work of the Commissioner of
Crown Lands, because even when he was in the colony the duties were, I believe, for some
time performed by a deputy; but when lie went to England I am certain that they were done
by a deputy" I then asked Sir William Fox the question, "Do you remember the circum-
stances sufficiently to give any information to the Committee?" To which he replied, "Yes, I
entirely confirm the statements made by Mr. Gisborne. It was distinctly understood at the time
he accepted Ministerial office, which he did at my personal request, that he should hold theposition
of Commissioner of Insurance, but that he should receive no payment for his services in that
capacity while he held his Ministerial office; and I distinctly remember that it was agreed that
the time he served as Commissioner of Insurance should count when he applied for his pension."
You will notice that Sir William Fox goes further than you went,and says it was distinctlyunderstood
when you accepted Ministerial office that you should hold the position of Commissionerof Annuities?
—A little confusion has, I think, arisen in Sir William Fox's mind with reference to the dates of my
acceptance of Ministerial office and of my acceptance of the office of Government Insurance Commis-
sioner. When I accepted Ministerial office there was no Government Insurance Office created by law,
nor was it created until two or three months afterwards. Sir William Fox is quite right in saying
that, when I accepted the Insurance Office, there was an understanding that the time would count
during which I held the Insurance Office as well as the position of a Minister. There was no under-
standing with me when I first became a Minister. There may have been an understanding between
the Ministers then in office (excluding myself) that, if such an office were created, I should have the
offer of it. All that I believed was that, like some other officers, if a suitable opportunity arose, I
should be allowed to hold an office in addition to the Ministerial portfolio, so that I should be able to
count the previous time I had been in the service for the purpose of claiming a pension when the
proper time arrived. There was no pledge or promise held out to me by any of the Ministers when in
the Cabinet.

225. The Insurance Act was then in course of passage,was it not ?—No. Sir J Vogel, before the
Stafford Government left office,carried some resolutions providing for the bringing in of a Bill for the
purpose. I think the discrepancy between Sir W Fox's evidence and mine is caused by the fact that
he has confused the timewhen I accepted Ministerial office with the timewhen Iaccepted the Insurance
office, five months afterwards. The time during which I held office as a Minister and also acted as
Government Insurance Commissionerhas not been counted in the computation of my pension.

226. The computation on page 14 of the papers, namely, £466 13s. 4d., is correct, is it not?—Yes,
I believe so, exclusive of the time during which I was in the Cabinet, and which, as I have stated, has
not been counted.

Dr. Knight, late Commissioner of Audit, examined.
227 The Chairman.'] The Committeehave asked you to attend to-day, Dr. Knight, for thepurpose

of getting some informationfrom you with regard to the pensions of Messrs. Fitzherbert, Domett, and
Gisborne. I think you were not concerned in Dr. Pollen's pension ?—Yes, that came before me ; but
when the question of Mr. Fitzherbert's pension cameup I was in England. Consequently Iknow very
little about that.

228. You did not hold, at any time, that the taking of political office affected the permanent office ?
—Yes, I did so in Mr. Gisborne's case. That was the objection which I previously raised in
Mr. Domett's case.

229. Did you hold that taking a political office did not annihilate the claim ?—lt suspended the
claim, but did not annihilateit.

230. You did not hold that the fact of a man's vacating a permanent office for a political one
ended his claim to a pension, but merely that it took so many years off the time, when thecomputation
was made for a pension?—Yes ; that is the case.

231. Did you hold, in regard to any of these pensions, that the taking of political office and con-
sequent vacation of permanent office caused the claimant to forfeit his right to apension ?—No; I
maintained the very opposite of that; but that requires some explanation. What I maintained was
that, when Mr. Gisborne accepted a Ministerial office, he virtually and really was no longer in
the Civil Service, as the two offices—one in the Ministry and the other in the Civil Service—were
incompatible. When he accepted office as Colonial Secretary, I understood that the Civil Service
offices which he previously held were vacated,because the two offices werereally incompatible. At the
same time I believed that, under what may be called a Ministerial arrangement, he continued to act as
Commissioner ofAnnuities without salary I consider that if the office of Commissioner of Annuities
were held by a Minister he was not entitled to count the time during which he held that office
in claiming a retiring allowance. I understand the arrangement was made with the view of securing
to Mr. Gisborne the office of Insurance Commissioner, if he ceased to be a Minister of the Crown. The
Solicitor-General based the opinion which he gave on the question on an Imperial Statute. In England
the officers of the Civil Service are entitled to retire on an allowance; but it sometimes happened that
the Governmentin Englandwere anxious to appoint persons in theCivil Service to offices in thecolonies,
or in England, in connection with which there was no retiring allowance. For thepurpose of entitling
such officers to aretiring allowance, an Act was passed to enable the Government at Home to transfer
officers belonging to the Civil Service there to offices not entitled to retiring allowances, without preju-
dice to claims for pensions. The Solicitor-General argued that no such provision had been made in
this colony to secure the rights of officers to a retiring allowance who accepted office after the Act of
1866 was passed. By the Act of 1866, which repeals theActs of 1858 and 1861, and provides that
nothing in that Act shall prejudice or affect the rights under those Acts of persons appointed to
offices before the passing of the Act.

232. What do you consider to be the value of what you describe as a Ministerial arrangement,as
bearing on the question of computation ofpension?—l look upon it in this way: Ifa Minister of the
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Crown continues, under arrangement made by the Ministry, to hold the inferior office, he must be
considered to hold the latteroffice as one of the Ministerial offices ; but that would not prejudice any
future claim for retiring allowance for the period prior to the date on which Mr. Gisborne accepted the
office of Colonial Secretary

233. Are you applying this remark simply to Mr. Gisborne's case, or are you applying it also to
Mr. Fitzherbert's case ?—I may say that I consider it inconsistent that a person should at one and the
same time be a Civil servant and a Minister of the Crown. In Mr. Gisborne's case the Commissioner
of Annuities would have been subject to the directions of the Colonial Treasurer, unless the office were
regarded as a Ministerial one.

234. You think then that the time during which the claimant held political office his service as a
Civil servant should not count ?—Tes.

235. Mr. Reader Wood.] On page 20 of the papers you say, in your memorandum dated 31st
October, 1577: "In the case of Dr. Pollen I was doubtful whether, in computing the amount of his
retiring allowance, the salary paid to him as Paymaster of the Imperial Pensioners residing in the
colony should count." Yousay you were doubtful about that ?—Yes.

236. Upon what grounds were you doubtful ?—The office was notknown to the Legislature, and
the salary was not provided for in the Estimates.

237 If you look at the Civil Service Act you will find this clause : " Nothing in this Act shall
apply except as hereinafter provided to anyresponsible Minister,or to any Judgeof the Supreme Court,
or to any officer of either House of Parliament, or to the Auditor or Controllerof Public Accounts,
or to any officer the right to appoint whom is not vested in the Governor, or to any officer of or
member of a colonial military or Volunteer Force, or to any person paid by fees or commission, nor
to any officer appointed by the Governor to whose office salary is not appropriated by the colonial
Legislature." That salary was never appropriated by the colonialLegislature ?—Yes ; I consider that
the Crown has power to appoint any officer it chooses to perform executive duties, but it is the
Legislature only that can provide the money for payment of servicesrendered.

238. The Chairman.] On page 12 you appear not to have agreed with the opinion which was given
by the Solicitor-General, in regard to Mr. Gisborne's pension ?—No ; for this reason: That the view
taken by the Solicitor-General was that Mr. Gisborne had accepted a new office; but that was not the
case. There was a consolidation Act passed, and in that Act it was provided that the person holding
the position or office of Commissioner of Government Annuities should continue as Commissioner
under that Act; so that there was perfect continuity of office, and there was no moment in which
Mr. Gisborne was not Commissionerof Annuities, and in no sense did he enterupon a new office. It
was unnecessary to appoint the same officer again under the consolidation Act, as it was provided by
the Act that he should be considered to have been appointed under it.

239. What was the name of the consolidationAct ?—lt was called the Government Annuities
Act. You will notice the language used by the Solicitor" General. He refers to any person who
accepts a " new office "; but there was no acceptance of any new office in this case.

240. Suppose that a Civil servant resigned his office and became a Minister of the Crown, and
that he was subsequently appointed to a newly-created office, there being an interval between his resig-
nation of his Civil office and his acceptance of the political office, and his appointment to the new office
—what would be his position ?—His position then, according to the opinion of the Solicitor-General,
is that he is no longer entitled to the rights and privileges that weresecured to him under the Act of
1866 ; and he would have lostall his privileges under the Acts of 1858and 1861.

241. "Was it not a fact that Mr. Gisborne took office about July, 1869, resigning the appointment
which he then held in the Civil Service, and at the same time accepted an office in the Civil Service
which was actually not created until September, 1869?—Those circumstances are not within my
memory

242. Can you ofier any opinion about thematter ?—I am of opinion that, when he accepted a new
office, he was entitled to aretiring allowanceup to the datewhen heretired from the office he had pre-
viously held. "When he accepted the new office, he was in the same position as any other officer who
joined the Service after the Act of 1866 was passed—that is to say, he was not entitled to count the
time he served in the new office in determining the amount of his retiring allowance. In other
words, he virtually became a new officer, and was no longer entitled to the privileges under the Acts
of 1858 and 1861.

243. Mr. Header Wood.] Are you of opinion, then, that, when an officer in the Civil Service gives
up his appointment for the sole purpose of taking a political office, and becomes a Minister, he can
be considered to retire from the Civil Service, considering how the word "retire " is used in thePensions
Acts ?—lt would dependwhether, in the case of his resigning, he would be entitled to a retiring allow-
ance. No officer can retire on a pension unless he has been a certain time in the public service ; but
if he has been in the service for the specified time, and thenresigns, he is entitled to the retiring allow-
ance computed up to the date of his resignation.

244. Do you not think that an officer receiving a salary of, say, £400 a year might make a very
good thing by retiring from the Civil Service and abandoning all right to a pension, if he could get a
salaryof £1,750 a yearandallowances, with the chanceof itslasting for someyears ?—lt is not veryeasy
to reply to that question. Supposing, for instance, such a person accepted office as Prime Minister,
and three days afterwards was thrown out of office, he, of course, would be a loser by it. But, if he
could secure both a pension for his past services and his salary as a Minister, it would doubtless be a
very good thing for him.

245. I understood you to say that Mr. Gisborne did not accept a new office, and that, therefore,
there was no break in his service. Now, in fact, he resigned office before the consolidation Act was
passed ?—Mv attention had not been called to that point. On the understanding that no actual
vacancy had occurred, I did not concur in the opinion theLaw Advisers of the Crown.

246. The Chairman,] Mr. Gisborne resigned his appointment as Under-Secretary about July,
3—l. sa.
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and was appointed Commissioner of Annuities under the Act of 1869, which did not become
aw until the 3rd September following.

247 Sir G. Grey.'] Did Mr. Gisborne mtike it a condition that if he resigned his office he should
get a seat in the Legislative Council which he could hold for life?—I know nothing about that. I
know that he was appointed to the Legislative Council.

248. Which he could have held for life, and to which was attached an allowanceof £200 a year,
while he would have to pay no election expenses?—Tes, that is the case. I agree with you.

249. Was that the case with Dr. Pollen too ?—Tes. Dr. Pollen was also in the Legislative
Council.

250. Mr. Moss.] Was not the time during which Messrs. Gisborne, Pollen, and others were acting
as Legislative Councillors, counted in the computation of their pensions ?—The fact of their being
Legislative Councillors was not considered at all.

251. On page 20 of the papers you state that Dr. Pollen's case is peculiar, in this respect: that
the salary paid, to him for services rendered as Paymaster of Imperial Pensions was computed in the
amount of his retiring allowance ?—Tes, it added a certain number of years to his claim.

252. And you were doubtful whether or not that should be the case ?—Tes, I was doubtful
about it.

253. And your reason for being doubtful was that the office was not known to the Legislature ;
and the salary of £300 a year, which was attached to it, was not provided by the Legislature?—Tes.

254. And you changed thatopinion because, when the question was referred to the Law Adviser
of the Crown, he stated that he understood that all the offices in respect of which Dr. Pollen claimed
were offices held by him under the General Governmentand in the Civil Service of the colony?■—Tes;
I acted on the opinion of the Law Adviser of the Crown.

255. Do you think that the office of Paymaster of Imperial Pensions was a Civil Service
office ?—Tes.

256. On what ground do you think so ?—On the ground that the Government have a right to
appoint any officer they please to do officialwork, as I stated just now

257 Under which of the Acts do you think he was a Civil servant?—Under the Act of 1858,
which provides for the retirement of officers and others employed in the Civil Service of the colony I
think the fact of his being required to do certain work for the Crown made him a Civil servant for the
time. It is the right of the Crown to appoint anybody it likes to do its work; and it is the privilege
of Parliament alone to provide the money to pay the salary of any person so appointed. Without
such provision no remuneration by way of salary can be made to him.

258. Tou consider that he was a Civil servant, though he was not necessarily entitled to a pension
as a Civil servant holding that position?—Tes, because the Act distinctly states that no person shall
be entitled to draw a retiring allowance whose office has not been provided for by the General
Assembly

259. What is your opinion on the subject now ?—I am ofopinion that Dr. Pollen was not entitled
to count the period or reckon the salary, when applying for his pension, for the time during which he
was acting as Paymaster of Imperial Pensions, because the Legislature distinctly stated that no officer
should have a claim for aretiring allowance unless the Legislature had made provision for the pay-
ment of his salary

260. Is there any point similar to that to be considered in reference to the pensions of Messrs.
Rtzherbert, Gisborne, or Domett?—No; I do not think there is any similar point.

261. Then, in your opinion, they were unquestionably Civil servants, who were entitled to draw
pensions ?—Tes. In Mr. Domett's case, there was aperiod for which he was mulct of the time during
which he was a Minister.

262. The Chairman.] In reply to Sir George Grey, you stated that you agreed with him that
Mr. Gisborne had accepted an appointment in the Legislative Council, which he might have heldfor
life, and to which a sum of £2CO a year was attached, the money being givenfor his expenses?—l do
not know that I said exactly that. I simply agreed with Sir George Grey as to the facts, as far as they
existed at the time.

263. I understood from your manner that you considered that thepayment of £200 a year was a
certainty in connection with the office ?—No ; of course I know that it is an uncertainty, and that it
depends on the Assembly whether it shall be voted or not.

264. Sir G. Grey.] In the event of Dr. Pollen's being paid money by Great Britain, and if he was
entitled to receive a pensionfor the money so paid, do you not think that GreatBritain should pay him
thatpension ?—I donot consider that Great Britain paid him that money I think that Great Britain
paid the money to the colony, and that the colony paid Dr. Pollen. The Imperial Government paid
into the colonial chest the percentage} out of which Dr. Pollen's salary was paid, but it knew nothing
of Dr. Pollen. Dr. Pollen was engaged to do the work by the Government of this colony

265. Then you think it was colonial money that was used to pay him ?—Tes; strictly and
unquestionably

266. Then the pensioners were paid with colonial money and not with British money ?—No ; the
Imperial Government were previously sendingout moneys to pay theirpensioners in the colony, while
on the other hand New Zealand was remitting moneys to England on account of thepostal service,and
the two transactions wererunning on concurrent^ Now, the Imperial Government pays our postal
account,and we pay ilia Imperial pensioners.

267 What relation was there between the two accounts ?—Simply that of reciprocity If the
colony had not been indebted to the Imperial Government we should have required themto pay us the
money direct; but, as we owed the Imperial Government moneys, we agreed to pay thepensioners in
discharge of our liabilities.

268. The ownership of the money was not altered by that ?—The money was moneyowing to the
English Government, but, instead ofbeing remitted to England, it waspaid to certain creditors of the
British Government here.



19 I.—sa.
269. What arrangement was there withregard to remitting the money to England?—We owed

the Government in England certain moneys in connection with postal matters, and out of that
we paid the pensioners. There was no arrangementfor remitting money Home. I have always un o
stood that it was the proposal of the English Government, that, instead of remitting the money to
England, we should pay their pensioners in this colony with it.

270. Do you not know that it was the proposal of the Imperial Government that we should pay
these pensioners, without any reference to postal matters ?—No, I only know that we were paying the
pensioners out of money that we owed to the English Government.

271. The Chairman.] Is it not a fact that the Government of the colony has been in the habit of
advancing money to pay these pensions ? —Tes. I do not know whether the exchange was at times
against us or not.

272. Mr. Header Wood] Was it not merely an exchange transaction ?—Tes; and it was a
convenience to both parties.

Thuesbax, 4th August, 1881.
Hon. ¥ Whitakek examined.

273. The Chairman.] The Committee have asked you to comehere for thepurposeofgetting your
opinion in reference to several cases in which pensions are involved.

274. Mr. McLean.'] Tou have given opinions inreference to some of these pensions, particularly
that of Dr. Pollen?—I have given an opinion iv Dr. Pollen's ease, but no other.

275. Will you tell us plainly whether Dr. Pollen's pension was granted and is being paid accord-
ing to law ?—Tes ; I think thepension was properly granted, and is accordingly being properly paid.
The only doubt that arose in my mind in connection with the pension was whether the time he held
office as a member of the Executive Council, without a portfolio, should count in his application for a
pension. After careful consideration of that point I came to the conclusion that the time during
which he was an Executive Councillor only should not be deducted from his term of service. It did not
appear to me that holding office as a member of the Executive Council without other office was
incompatible with holding aposition in the Civil Service.

276. In referring to the timein which Dr. Pollen was a Minister, do you mean the time in which
he was an Executive Councillor only ?—That was the point thatraised a doubtin my mind.

277 Do you hold that the time during which a Minister receives a salary as a Minister should
be counted in the event of his applying for a pension?—No ; I still adhere to the opinion I formerly
expressed, which was that a Minister cannotat the same time be a Civil servant.

278. Then you think that when a Civil servant holds the position of a Minister, andreceives salary
as a Minister, he should not be allowed to count that time when applying for a pension ?—I think not.
I think that, when a man holding an office in the Civil service accepts a position as Minister, he cannot
hold bothpositions, as they are incompatible. I think the lower office becomes vacantwhen he accepts
the higher. I may say that Ido not think the question wouldhave arisen if Dr. Pollen had only held
the honorary office of Executive Councillor.

279. Touknow nothing about the pensions of Messrs. Eitzherbert, Domett, and Gisborne ?—No.
With regard to'Dr. Pollen'spension I have only to say that I gave all the attention that was necessary
to it in order to enable me to form a correct opinion.

280. Mr. Moss.] The last paragraph but one of page 24 of the papers is to this effect: " The only
remaining question is whether the salary that Dr. Pollen received in respect of his office of Paymaster
of Imperial Pensions is to be reckoned in fixing the amount of the allowance. As I understand the
matter it stands thus: The Imperial Governmentmade an arrangement with the Colonial Government
to allow the latter £2 10s. per cent on the amount of pensions payable in this colony by the former,
the Colonial Government undertaking the work at their own cost. In consequence of this arrange-
ment Dr. Pollen was appointed by the Colonial Government at a fixed salary to perform the work. In
my opinion the £2 10s. per cent, on payment becomes colonial funds, and the salary paid is therefore
paid out of colonial funds to an officer appointed by the Colonial Government. Under these circum-
stances that salarywill, in my opinion, be properly reckoned in fixing Dr. Pollen's colonial retiring
allowance.—Eeedk. "Whitakee.—15th January, 1880." In this case Ido not see anything to show
that the salary was appropriated by the Colonial Legislature ?—I know nothing about that. In my
opinion the money was colonial funds, and it was a misappropriation to use that money without
authority of Parliament.

281. Mr. Saunders.] Do I understand you to state that your doubt as to theposition of Dr. Pollen
in the matter arose entirelyfrom thefact that he held his political office without salary—that is to say,
if he had held the office with salary,would he have been entitled to count his time?—lf he had held
the office of Minister with salary in the ordinary way, I do think that the time would have to be
disallowed.

282. Mr. JBallance.] Was the fact not before you that the salary of £300 had not been appro-
priated by Parliament ?—lt was not.

283. Then you gave your opinion respecting it on the supposition that the funds you were dealing
with were colonial funds ?—I assumed that the money had been properly paid, and there was no ques-
tion in my mind as to its being colonial funds. On principle I think it is wrong that a man should
draw a salary as well as a pension. It appears to methat the spirit of the law is against a man drawing
a pension as well as a salary; at the same time I admit that a strict interpretationof the law may lead
to an opposite conclusion.

284. Do you think thatany person claiming a pension under the Act of 1866 would be entitled
to have his rights protected under the Act of 1858 or that of 1861?—My attention was not drawnto
the matter,but I will look into it. Those Acts were repealed by the Act of 1866, and donot apply to
Dr. Pollen's case, who gets his pension under the Act of 1866.

285. Can a Minister, in your opinion, hold a Civil Service appointment whilst he is a Minister?—
I should say not. My opinion is very decisive on that point.
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286. Uuder section 33 of "The Civil Service Act, 1866," if Dr. Pollen did not receive any salary

for the two years previous to 1873, would he be debarredfrom drawing pension on the salary he should
havereceived during those two last years ?—Yes; to be entitled to pension he must have received
salary

287 Mr. Montgomery,.] In the event of an officer in the Civil Service taking the position of mem-
ber of the Executive Council, might he not give such advice as would influence the Government in the
appointmentof his successor in the Civil Service?—The objection to a man holding an incompatible
office is that he would be both master and servant; but that would hardly apply to an Executive
Councillor only without other office.

288. Mr. McLean.'] Are you of opinion that the money paid by the Imperial Government to the
Colonial Government for services rendered in connection with thepayment of Imperial pensions should
be considered colonial revenue?—This was,it appears,an agreement between the Imperial Government
and the Colonial Government; and lam of opinion that the moment the former paid to the latter any
sum of money that money became colonialfunds.

289. The Chairman.^ You expressed the opinion that the drawing of a pension in virtueof length of
serviceby any one who is at the same time a Minister is against the spirit of the law?—Yes.

290. Are you aware that that question has been submitted to the present Solicitor-General, and
that he has given a different opinion respecting it?—I have not seen the opinion; and I have told you
that the strict interpretation of the law is rather the other way

291. Your opinion appearsto bethat a Civil servant who accepts a portfolio in the Ministry vacates
his office in the Civil Service ?—Yes.

292. I want to know what is the precise legal meaning of the word " vacates " in that case—
whether it means the absolute termination of office, or merely a temporary vacation of the office, which
allows the occupant to rehabilitate himself?—I think that it means that the Civil Service office is
absolutely abandoned.

293. But you think that a break occurring in the continuity of a man's service should not count
for pension ?—That is my opinion.

294. Then, is it reasonable that if he ever becomes a Civil servant again, he should be entitled
to count the time he formerly served ?—I will give you an instance: If 1 had been holdingoffice as
Assistant Law Officer, and I became Attorney-General, my office as Assistant Law Officer would
absolutely become vacant, and I wouldhave no claimin connexion with it.

295. And in case you had continued to act as Assistant Law Officer for a certain time longer, in
order to become entitled to a pension, would you, after the break caused by your taking office as
Attorney-General, be entitled to count your service if you wentback to the Civil Service ?—I do not
understand that it requires continuous service. The 18th section of the Act of 1866 allows a man to
count the time he serves as continuous, through there has been a break.

296. Mr. Ballance.~] Should the non-appropriation of the £300 salary paid to Dr. Pollen on
account of Imperial Pensions exclude that salary from the computation of pension ?—I see nothing in
the Act of 1866 that makes it a condition that the salary should be appropriated by Parliament, but
payment without appropriation would no doubt be irregular

APPENDIX.

THE HON ME. GISBORNE'S PENSION
The Solicitor-General. 18thAugust, 1879.

Will you be good enough to advise upon the following question : If an officer receives a pensionunder the provisions of the Civil Service Acts, and becomes a member of the Executive Council, is
he entitled to draw his pension and his salary as a Minister, or ought there to be any, and, if so, what,deduction ? G-. Grey

Hon. the Premier.

The question submitted, being a general one, must be considered with reference to the Acts confer-
ring superannuation allowances prior to 1866, and also to the Acts passed in that year. Upon refer-
ence to the Acts in question, I am of opinion that there is nothing making it unlawful for a person in
the receipt of a pension under the Civil Service Acts to draw his salary as a Responsible Minister of
the Crown. Both the Acts of 1858 and " The Civil Service Act, 1866," contain provisions applicable
to the ordinary case of an officer receiving a retiring allowance, and being subsequently appointedto
some other office in the Civil Service {vide section 4 of " The Superannuation Act, 1558," and section
36 of " The Civil Service Act, 1866"). The effectof the provisions referred to is that:, in the case of any
such subsequent appointment, theretiring allowanceshall cease to be paid if the annual amount of the
profits of the new office shall be equal to those of the office formerly held ; and, in case they are not
equal, then no more of the superannuation allowance is to be paid than what, with the salary of the
new appointment, shall be equal to that of theformer office.

It would have been afair question for argument, whether these provisions could have applied to
such a case as now before me ; but all doubt is relievedby the terms of the Acts referred to. TheAct of 1858 expressly provides (section 9) that it shall not apply to offices whose holders have seats ia
the Executive Council, or from which they are removable on political grounds ; in the Act of 1866,
section 2 declares that it shall not apply to any Eesponsible Minister.

20th August, 1879. W S. Eeid,
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12th July, 1847 Appointed Private Secretary to Lieutenant-GovernorEyre.
Feb., 1848. Appointed Clerk to Executive Council.

Ist Sept., 1849. Appointed Commissioner of Crown Lands, Auckland.
Ist July, 1856. Appointed TJnder-Secretary
2nd July, 1869. Resigned as Under-Secretary„ „ Appointed Member Executive Council.
sth July, 1869. Took office of Colonial Secretary

22nd Nov., 1869. Appointed Commissioner of Government Insurance.
10th Sept., 1872. Ceased to be Colonial Secretary
30th Sept., 1876. Resigned as Commissioner of Insurance.

°Bth O^r 1879° ( Minister °^ Lands, Mines, and Education, and Member Executive Council.
Leave granted: Ist May, 1852,to 31st October, 1853 ; 9th June, 1876, to 30th September, 1876.
Sums of money received with pension: Salary as Minister, July-October, 1879, £325 18s. lOd.

Sib,— Wellington, 11th July, 1881.
For obvious reasons I refrain from taking part in the deliberationsof the Public Accounts

Committee on the subject of certain pensions.
I wish, however, in this letter to explain why my correspondence with the Government on the

subject of my pension appearsunfinished. While my claim, to count as part of the time of my service
the period during which I held the office of Government Insurance Commissioner in addition to a
ministerial portfolio, was under the consideration of the Government in 1877, I became a candidate
for, and was elected to, a seat in the House of Eepresentatives. Thereupon I waited on theHon.
Major Atkinson, the Colonial Treasurer, and, in order to avoid misconstruction, I withdrew that claim.

I shall of course beready, if the Committee desire it, to give my evidence on any point which, in
their opinion, requires my examination. I have, &c,

The Chairman of the Public Accounts Committee, &c. W Gisboene.

SIE,— I might have added yesterday that an officer on half-pay in the army or navy does not, I
believe, lose his pay when he becomes Minister. I am under the belief, though I will not say lam
certain, that the Commander-in-Chief who used to be a Minister, though not in the Cabinet, drew his
General's or Field Marshal's pay in addition to his pay as Minister. And the Duke of Wellington as
Premier, or General Peel as Secretary of War, drew pay as Field Marshal and General in addition to
that of their office.

I should also like to express the opinion that, whatever be thought of the propriety of a permanent
office being held conjointly with a nominated one, the question cannot be raised as regards pension.
The latter matter depends not on whether the civil office ought to have been, but on whether it
actually was, held. In Gisborne's case the office was held, and to say it was not would invalidate his
acts as Commissionerof Annuities ; and Parliament was aware of the arrangementat the time.

I need not say I think the matter should be put at rest by an Act, and that Ministers should not
be allowed to hold civil offices nor time to count for pensions. But such is not, in my mind, the law
at present.

I enclose the memorandum I promised yesterday
I have, &c,

The Chairman, Public Accounts Committee. James Edward FitzGeeald.

DR. POLLEN'S PENSION
The Solicitoe-Geneeal's Opinions.

I hate carefullyconsidered the various questions put to me on attached papers,* and now beg to reply
to them in their order, adapting my answers to the circumstances of Dr. Pollen's case :—■

1. Can a Civil servant, who resigns, claim his pension as a matter of right ?—lf a Civil servant
resigns his office absolutely he cannot claim his pension as a matter of right. The act of resignation
usually carries with it a surrender of the privileges attachedto the office ; and, in the Civil Service Acts
the expressions used in respect of officers claiming superannuationallowances are, to " retire from the
service," "retiring allowances," &c, which convey quite a different meaning from resignation. But I
think an officer may, in resigning his office, reserve the questionof his right to receive a retiring allow-
ance ; and this Dr. Pollen did, in his letter of the 30th October, 1876,and his resignation was accepted
upon those terms by the Governor.

2. If Civil servant called toLegislative Council, can he remain Civil servant: (a.) under " The Dis-
qualification Act, 1870 ;" (b.) under " The Disqualification Act, 1876?"—Speaking generally a Civil
servant—i.e., one holding any office, place, or employment, &c, within the meaning of the Disqualifica-
tionActs—would not be capable of being summoned tothe Legislative Council. But the Disqualification
Act of 1870 exempted from its operation members of the Executive Council holding certain Ministerial
offices ; and under this Act there is no prohibition of a person being called to the Legislative Council
while a Civil servant, so long as he also remains a member of the Executive Council, and holds his
Ministerial office. There is a similar provision in the Disqualification Act of 1876, to which the same
remark wouldapply, subject, however, to the terms of section 14, which enact that a member of the
Civil service shall not, while he is such member or for sis months thereafter, be capable of holding a
seat in the Legislative Council. As a matter of fact, members of the Executive have held offices in

*Note.—The above series of questionsare unsigned. They are in the handwriting ofMr. Stout,the Attorney-General
of theperiod.
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the Civil Service, both when the Act of 1870 was in operation and since the present Act came into
force. The only one which occurs to me at present is that of Land Claims Commissioner under " The
Land Claims Act, 1856 ;" but, as I presume no salary, Ac, is attached to the office, there is of course no
disqualification on that ground ; and, being held by a inemher of the Executive, comes within the view
I have expressed as to the operation of the Disqualification Act. From the papers it appears Dr. Pollen
resigned his offices one day prior to thepassing of the Act now in force.

3. Was the memorandumas to departmental arrangements at Auckland legal, so far as agreement
as to £300 for paying Imperial pensions was concerned ?—I have read Sir JuliusVogel's memorandum
of 6th January, 1872, which can hardly be called an agreement,but is rather a statement of arrange-
ments made as to the conduct of Treasury business in Auckland, including the terms upon which Dr.
Poilen undertook the payment of the Imperial pensions. The latter were: that, out of certain com-
missions allowed to the colony by the Imperial Government, Dr. Pollen should be allowed an annual
sum of £300 in lieu of a like sum paid him by the Treasury. Ido not think this arrangement can be
lookedupon in the nature of an agreement,because the commission was the money of the colony, and
could be apportioned as it pleased, whether Dr. Pollen was a party to such apportionment or not.
The Treasury could have cast the duty of paying these pensioners upon him, and paid him out of this
commission without his sanction or knowledge. Indeed the main object was to relieve " the Treasury
of some departmental expenditure ;" and the fact that there was a kind of reservation of Dr. Pollen's
rights in respect of departmental service does not, in my opinion, weaken his position. On the
contrary, it was only such an equitable stipulation as an officer so situatedmight well make, and, so
long as it did not contravene the law, was one within the province of the Treasury to allow As to
the latter point, Dr. Pollen's claim is made under the Acts of 1858 and 186L, and in these Acts there
is no such limitation as in the Act of 1866,which provides that that Act shall not apply to offices to
which salary is not appropriated by the colonial Legislature. Had Dr. Pollenbecome an officer of the
Imperial Government, and been paidby them, of course he would have had no claim on the colony ; or
even if this commission had been specifically devoted by the Imperial Government to defraying the
expenses connected with paying thesepensioners, then, I think, his claimwould have been untenable ;
but it is treated as the money of the colony, and by it devoted as it pleases. Dr. Pollen still remains
an officer of the Colonial Government, and, in discharging his duties is, by the memorandum in
question, assumed to be under the control and direction of that Government. For thesereasons I
think the arrangements made by the Treasury should not be allowed to prejudice any claim to retiring
allowancewhich Dr. Pollen may legallyestablish. I may add that, when these papers werepreviously
before me, the Treasury memorandumwas not with them, and I have now expressed an opinion on it
for thefirst time.

4. If Dr. Pollen is entitled to pension, up to what date must he claim?—l think this claim should
be made upon the average salary of the offices held during the last three years of the period of service.
This is the languageof section 3 of the Act of 1861 ; and it does not, in my opinion, affect the claim,
although the salary was not actually drawn. Ido not think it necessary to go into the question, as to
the right of a claimant to claim up to any date he pleases within the period of his service, and waive
any portion of such service, because in this case it would not make any real difference.

5. Could he holdoffices, and still act as Minister of the Crown ?—This question is disposed of by
my answer to No. 2, above.

6. As it appearsDr. Pollen did not resign his offices till 30th October, 1876, must not his pension
count for the salary drawn during the three last years ?—Also disposed of by my answer to No. 6,
above.

25th. June, 1878. W S. Eeid.

Memokandum for the Public Accounts Committee.
The process as to payment of Imperial pensions is follows :—

.1. Money is issued on imprest for the payment of these pensions and debited to the Imperial
Pensions Advance Account.

2. On the return of pension receipts the Imperial Pensions Advance Account is credited, and
the Imperial Pensions Account debited.

3. At the end ofeach quarter the Treasury makes up a schedule of the pensions paid, adding 3 per
cent, to the total, aud sends it to the Postmaster-General, together with the pension receipts as
vouchers.

4. The Postmaster-General gives his cheque for the total, which is paid into the Public Account.
The amount of the pensions is carried to the credit of the Imperial Pensions Account, and the com-
mission to the Imperial Pensions Expenses Account, out of which the expenses of paying the pensions
is paid.

5. The balance in the latter account was not carried to revenue. The amount to credit of the
account was treated as the limit of the expenditure.

6. The Postmaster-General transmits the list of pensions and commission to England, where the
amount is credited to the New Zealand Post Office Account with the London Post Office for
money orders.

7 All these accounts are suspense accounts, which are extinguishedcurrently, without charge on
the colonial revenue. They have been reported to Parliamentfor many years, included in the suspense
and deposit accounts of the Consolidated Fund, and have been tacitly admittedby Parliament.

8. Since the 31st March last the system of account has been altered: the "Expenses Account"
liasbeen closed, the commission is now carried to revenue, and the expenses are to be paid out of a
voteof Parliament.

There will still remain no legal authority for the original issue of the imprests out of which the
pensions are paid.
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Other occasional payments equally without statutable authority have always been made on behalf
of the Imperial Government, and reported to Parliament, under the head of Imperial Government
Advances Account.

James Edwaed FitzGeeald,
22nd July, 1881. Controller and Auditor-General.

SIE WILLIAM FITZHEEBEET'S PENSION
Sic,— Superintendent's Office, Wellington, 24th November, 1869.

I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 17th instant, informing me
that you have forwarded your resignation of the office of Commissioner of Crown Lands to the Hon.
the Colonial Secretary

I have to express my very sincere regret at the termination of the official connection which has
subsisted between us for a period of above sixteen years, and at the same time to assure you that I shall
everremain grateful to you for the valuable assistanceyou have invariably afforded me in your capacity
both of Commissioner of Crown Lands and of a Member of my Executive.

I have, &c,
I. "E. Featheeston,

William Fitzherbert, Esq. Superintendent.

Sic,— Colonial Secretai-y's Office, Wellington, 31st January, 1870.
Adverting to my letter (No. 8) of the Bth instant, I have the honor to inform you that leave

of absence has been granted to you, without salary, till the 15th July, 1870, and that His Excellency
is pleased to accept, on and from that date, your resignation of the office of Commissionerof Crown
Lands.

A warranthas been signed by His Excellency, giving you, from the 15th July, 1870, a pension
under the 41st section of " The Civil Service Act, 1866," at the rate of £325 per annum,

I have, &c,
William Fitzherbert, Esq., M.G.A., the Hutt, Wellington. W Gisbobne.

Sir,— Parliament Buildings, 20th July, 1881.
By direction of the Chairman of the Public Accounts Committee, I have the honor to request

that you will furnish me with the following papersbefore 11 a.m. of to-morrow,viz.:—
1. Application form filled up by Sir William Fizherbert when applying for his pension.
2. Copy of Governor's warrant granting such pension.
3. Auditor-General's sanction to the payment.

I have, &c,
Heney Weight,

The Secretary to the Treasury Clerk to the Public Accounts Committee.
There is no applicationform, and I cannot find any Auditor-General's sanction.—G-. S. Coopee.—

20th July 1881.
Mr. Wright.—Copy warrantherewith.—James C. G-atin.—2lst July, 1881.

G- F. Bowen, Governor.
To the Honorable the Colonial Treasurer of New Zealand,for the time being.

"Whereas by " The Civil Service Act, I860," provision is made for granting to officers of the Civil
Service on their retirement, in certain cases, superannuation and other allowances; and by the fortv-
first section of the said Act it is enacted that, when any superannuation or other allowance or gratuity
is granted under the said Act, the causes of the granting thereof shall be set forth in the warrant
granting the same : And whereas William Fitzherbert, Esquire, of Wellington, will, on the fifteenth
day of July, one thousand eight hundred and seventy, have attained the age of sixty years, and will
havebeen actually employed in the Public Service of New Zealand for the period of sixteen years, and
will have been during the last two years of such service employed as Commissioner of CrownLands at
Wellington, at an average salary of six hundred and fiftypounds (£650) per annum: And whereas
the said William Fitzherbert is desirous of retiring from the Civil Service on the fifteenth day of July,
one thousand eighthundred and seventy, to which date he has received leave of absence : Now, there-
fore, I, Sir George Ferguson Bowen, G-.C.M.Gr., the Governor of the Colony of New Zealand,
in pursuance and in exercise of thepower and authority in me in this behalf vestedby the said Act, do
hereby authorizeand empower you, the Colonial Treasurer for the time being of the said colony, from
time to time to pay to the said William Fitzherbert, Esquire, during his natural life, or until the
cancellation of this warrant, a retiring allowance after the rate of three hundred and twenty-five
pounds per annum, from and after the fifteenth day of July, one thousand eight hundred and seventy,
and for your so doing this shall be your sufficient warrant.

Given under the hand of His Excellency Sir G-eorge Ferguson Bowen, Knight Grand Cross
of the Most Distinguished Order of Saint Michael and Saint George, Governor and
Coinmander-in-Chief in and over Her Majesty's Colony of New Zealand and its
Dependencies, at the Government House at Auckland, this fifteenth day of January, in
the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and seventy

W G-iseoene,
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3rd Nov., 1853. Appointed Provincial Secretary and Treasurer.
11th Sept., 1857 Appointed Receiver of Land Revenue (no salary).
24th June, 1859. Appointed Commissioner of Crown Lands.
24thN"0v.,1864,t07 r, , • -, m

16thOct., ls£s. j Colonial Treasurer.
24th Aug., 1866. ColonialTreasurer and Commissioner of Stamp Duties, and Member of Executive.
2nd Sept., 1868. Resignation tendered as Minister of Crown Lands, not accepted.

28th June, 1869. Ceased to be Colonial Treasurer, Commissioner of Stamp Duties, and Memberof
Executive.

17thNov., 1869. Resigned as Commissioner of Crown Lands.
lltli O^ ' 1872 ( Secretary of Crown Lands and Immigration, and Member of Executive Council.

Leave granted from Bth December, 1867, to Bth December, 1868; and extension granted till
return from England.

Leave granted, without salary, from 22nd December, 1869, to 15th July, 1870.
Sums of money received withpension : Salaryas Minister,September-October, 1872, £85 2s. 5d.;

salary as Speaker of House of Representatives andLegislative Council,

MR. A. DOMETT'S PENSION
14thFeb., 1848. Appointed Colonial Secretary, New Munster.
11th Nov., 1851. Appointed Civil Secretary (no extrapay).

Jan., 1854. Appointed Resident Magistrate and Commissioner of Crown Lands, Napier.
Bth Sept., 1856. Appointed Commissioner of Crown Lands, Nelson.
6th Aug., 1862. Colonial Secretary and Member of Executive Council.

22nd Aug., 1862. Secretary for Crown Lands (non-political)
30th Oct., 1863. Ceased to be Colonial Secretaryand Member of Executive Council.
Ist Sept., 1871. Resigned (pensioned).

No leave.

Authority; Geoeoe Didsbubt, Government Priuter, Wellington.—lBBl.
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